

EIGHTH EDITION

PARALEGAL TODAY: THE LEGAL TEAM AT WORK

ROGER LEROY MILLER • MARY MEINZINGER







Copyright 2022 Cengage Learning, All Rights Reserved, May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. WCN 02-200-322

EIGHTH EDITION

PARALEGAL TODAY: THE LEGAL TEAM AT WORK

ROGER LEROY MILLER • MARY MEINZINGER









Options.

We understand that affordable options are important. Visit us at cengage.com to take advantage of our new textbook rental program, which can be bundled with our MindTap products!

Over 300 products in every area of the law: MindTap, textbooks, online courses, reference books, companion websites, and more—Cengage helps you succeed in the classroom and on the job.

Support.

We offer unparalleled course support and customer service: robust instructor and student supplements to ensure the best learning experience, custom publishing to meet your unique needs, and sales representatives always ready to provide you with dependable service.

Feedback.

As always, we want to hear from you! Your feedback is our best resource for improving the quality of our products. Contact your sales representative or write us at the address below if you have any comments about our materials or if you have a product proposal.

Accounting and Financials for the Law Office • Administrative Law • Alternative Dispute Resolution • Bankruptcy Business Organizations/Corporations • Careers and Employment • Civil Litigation and Procedure • CP Exam Preparation • Computer Applications in the Law Office • Constitutional Law • Contract Law • Criminal Law and Procedure • Document Preparation • Elder Law • Employment Law • Environmental Law • Ethics • Evidence Law • Family Law • Health Care Law • Immigration Law • Intellectual Property • Internships • Interviewing and Investigation • Introduction to Law • Introduction to Paralegalism • Juvenile Law • Law Office Management • Law Office Procedures • Legal Research, Writing, and Analysis • Legal Terminology • Legal Transcription • Media and Entertainment Law • Medical Malpractice Law • Product Liability • Real Estate Law • Reference Materials • Social Security • Torts and Personal Injury Law • Wills, Trusts, and Estate Administration • Workers' Compensation Law



For additional information, find us online at: cengage.com

EIGHTH EDITION

PARALEGAL TODAY: THE LEGAL TEAM AT WORK

ROGER LEROY MILLER • MARY MEINZINGER









Australia • Brazil • Canada • Mexico • Singapore • United Kingdom • United States

This is an electronic version of the print textbook. Due to electronic rights restrictions, some third party content may be suppressed. Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. The publisher reserves the right to remove content from this title at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it. For valuable information on pricing, previous editions, changes to current editions, and alternate formats, please visit www.cengage.com/highered to search by ISBN#, author, title, or keyword for materials in your areas of interest.

Important Notice: Media content referenced within the product description or the product text may not be available in the eBook version.



Paralegal Today: The Legal Team at Work 8th Edition

Roger LeRoy Miller and Mary Meinzinger

SVP, Higher Education & Skills Product: Erin Joyner

VP, Higher Education & Skills Product: Michael Schenk

Product Director: Matthew Seeley

Associate Product Manager: Abbie M. Schultheis

Product Assistant: Nick Perez

Learning Designer: Mara C. Vuillaume

Senior Content Manager: Betty L. Dickson

Senior Digital Delivery Lead: Beth Ross

Director, Marketing: Neena Bali

Executive Marketing Manager: Mark Linton

IP Analyst: Ashley Maynard

IP Project Manager: Nick Barrows

Production Service: SPi Global, Inc.

Designer: Erin Griffin

Cover Image Source: iStock 518501343 iStockPhoto.com/wdstock; iStock 863497494 iStockPhoto.com/PeopleImages; iStock 1125703789 iStockPhoto.com/damircudic; Shutterstock 649123297 I.Friedrich/ ShutterStock.com

Text Designer: Joe Devine

Interior Image Source: 1316614421 fizkes/ShutterStock.com 1477336865 fizkes/ShutterStock.com © 2022, 2017, 2014, 2010, 2007, 2004, 2000, 1995 Cengage Learning, Inc.

Unless otherwise noted, all content is © Cengage.

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED. No part of this work covered by the copyright herein may be reproduced or distributed in any form or by any means, except as permitted by U.S. copyright law, without the prior written permission of the copyright owner.

For product information and technology assistance, contact us at Cengage Customer & Sales Support, 1-800-354-9706 or support.cengage.com.

For permission to use material from this text or product, submit all requests online at **www.cengage.com/permissions.**

Library of Congress Control Number: 2020949410

Book Only ISBN: 978-0-3574-5405-3 Package ISBN: 978-0-3574-5406-0

Cengage

200 Pier 4 Boulevard Boston, MA 02210 USA

Cengage is a leading provider of customized learning solutions with employees residing in nearly 40 different countries and sales in more than 125 countries around the world. Find your local representative at **www.cengage.com.**

To learn more about Cengage platforms and services, register or access your online learning solution, or purchase materials for your course, visit **www.cengage.com.**

Printed in the United States of America Print Number: 01 Print Year: 2021

To Jo,

Your publishing success is well deserved. May you continue to create best sellers for years to come.

R.L.M.

To Jer,

Rest in peace. Your loving daughter.

MMU

Brief Contents

Preface xxi

Skill Prep: A Paralegal Skills Module | xxxi PART 1 The Paralegal Profession **CHAPTER 1** Today's Professional Paralegal 2 **CHAPTER 2** Career Opportunities | 19 The Inner Workings of the Law Office | 54 **CHAPTER 3 CHAPTER 4** Ethics and Professional Responsibility | 85 **CHAPTER 5** Sources of American Law | 119 **CHAPTER 6** The Court System and Alternative Dispute Resolution | 145 PART 2 Legal Procedures and Paralegal Skills 174 **CHAPTER 7** Legal Research and Analysis | 175 **CHAPTER 8** Online Legal Research | 215 **CHAPTER 9** Legal Writing: Form and Substance | 241 **CHAPTER 10** Civil Litigation: Before the Trial | 269 **CHAPTER 11** Conducting Interviews and Investigations | 315 Trial Procedures | 350 **CHAPTER 12 CHAPTER 13** Criminal Law and Procedures | 379 PART 3 Key Elements of the Law 410 **CHAPTER 14** Tort Law, Product Liability, and Consumer Law | 421 **CHAPTER 15** Contracts and Intellectual Property Law | 453 **CHAPTER 16** Real Property and Insurance Law 485 **CHAPTER 17** Family Law and Estates | 509 **CHAPTER 18** Business Organizations and Employment Law 538 **CHAPTER 19** Bankruptcy and Environmental Law | 572

Appendices

- A NALA's Code of Ethics and Professional Responsibility | 603
- **B** NALA's Model Standards and Guidelines for the Utilization of Paralegals | 605
- C NALS Code of Ethics and Professional Responsibility | 615
- D NALA's Certification Program | 617
- E NALS Certification | 623
- F The Constitution of the United States | 625
- G Spanish Equivalents for Important Legal Terms in English 639

Endnotes | 645

Glossary 647

Index | 663

Contents

Preface	XXi
i iciacc	^^

Skill Prep: A Paralegal Skills Module | xxxi

PART 1 The Paralegal Profession

CHAPTER 1 Today's Professional Paralegal | 2

Introduction / 3

What Is a Paralegal? / 3

Definition of Paralegal / 3

Expanding Roles / 4

What Do Paralegals Do? / 4

A Sampling of Paralegal Tasks / 4

Paralegals' Duties Vary / 5

Paralegals and Technology / 6

Paralegal Education / 7

Educational Options / 8

Paralegal Curriculum—Substantive and Procedural Law / 8

The Role of the AAfPE and ABA in Paralegal Education / 8

Certification / 9

Continuing Legal Education / 10

Paralegal Skills and Attributes / 10

Analytical Skills / 10

Communication Skills / 11

Computer Skills / 13

Organizational Skills / 14

The Ability to Keep Information Confidential / 15

Professionalism / 15

The Future of the Profession / 15

CHAPTER 2 Career Opportunities | 19

Introduction / 20

Where Paralegals Work / 20

Law Firms / 20

Corporations and Other Business Organizations / 22

Government / 22

Legal Aid Offices / 23

Freelance Paralegals / 23

Paralegal Specialties / 24

Litigation / 24

Corporate Law / 25

Ethics Watch: Paralegal Expertise and Legal Advice 5

Featured Contributor:

Start Today 6

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Interviewing a

Client 12

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Proofreading Legal

Documents 13

Office Tech and Cybersecurity: Online

Resources for Paralegals 14

Office Tech and Cybersecurity: Deploying Cybersecurity in a Law

Firm 24

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Working for a Public

Defender 29

Featured Contributor:

Tips to Jumpstart Your Paralegal Career 32

Ethics Watch: The

Importance of Integrity 36

Contract Law / 25

Real Estate Law / 25

Personal-Injury Law / 26

Insurance Law / 26

Employment and Labor Law / 26

Estate Planning and Probate Administration / 27

Bankruptcy Law / 27

Intellectual Property Law / 27

Environmental Law / 28

Family Law / 28

Criminal Law / 29

Additional Specialty Areas / 29

Paralegal Compensation / 30

Compensation Surveys / 30

Job Benefits / 31

Salaries versus Hourly Wages / 31

Planning Your Career / 31

Defining Your Long-Term Goals / 31

Short-Term Goals and Job Realities / 34

Locating Potential Employers / 34

Networking / 34

Finding Available Jobs / 35

Identifying Possible Employers / 35

Marketing Your Skills / 36

The Application Process / 37

The Cover Letter / 39

List of Professional References / 41

Your Professional Portfolio / 42

Digital Marketing / 42

The Interview / 42

Before the Interview / 43

At the Interview / 44

After the Interview / 45

The Follow-up/Thank-You Letter / 45

Job-Hunting Files / 46

Salary Negotiations / 46

Career Development / 48

Using Social Media Effectively / 48

Digital Shadow / 48

Social Media Skills Increase Your Value to Employers / 49

Watching for Opportunities / 50

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Confidentiality and Client Information 61

Ethics Watch: Back Up Your Work 62

Office Tech and Cybersecurity: Proper

and Effective E-Mail Communications 66

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Creating a Trust Account 71

Featured Contributor:

Tips for Effective
Communications 78

CHAPTER 3 The Inner Workings of the Law Office

Introduction / 55

The Organizational Structure of Law Firms / 55

Sole Proprietorships / 55

Partnerships / 56

Professional Corporations / 56

Law Office Management and Personnel / 57

Law Office Organization / 57

Variety of Support Staff / 58

Employment Policies / 58

Performance Evaluations / 59

Employment Termination / 60

Filing Procedures / 61

Client Files / 62

Work Product Files and Reference Materials / 65

Forms Files / 65

Law Firms and Financial Procedures / 66

Wide Range of Law Practices / 66

Fee Arrangements / 68

Billing and Timekeeping Procedures / 71

Ethics and Client Billing Practices / 75

Communications and Social Media Tools / 76

Traditional Communications / 76

Communication by Social Media / 77

Clear Policies / 78

Law Office Culture and Politics / 80

Formality versus Reality / 80

Issues in Office Culture / 80

CHAPTER 4 Ethics and Professional Responsibility | 85

Introduction / 86

The Regulation of Attorneys / 86

Who Are the Regulators? / 86

Licensing Requirements / 87

Ethical Codes and Rules / 88

Sanctions for Violations / 89

Attorney Ethics and Paralegal Practice / 90

The Duty of Competence / 91

Confidentiality of Information / 93

Conflict of Interest / 101

The Indirect Regulation of Paralegals / 104

Paralegal Ethical Codes / 104

Guidelines for the Utilization of Paralegals / 107

The Increasing Scope of Paralegal Responsibilities / 107

The Unauthorized Practice of Law / 108

State UPL Statutes / 108

The Prohibition against Fee Splitting / 110

Giving Legal Opinions and Advice / 110

Representing Clients in Court / 111

Disclosure of Paralegal Status / 111

Paralegals Freelancing for Attorneys / 111

Legal Technicians (Independent Paralegals) and UPL / 112

Should Paralegals Be Licensed? / 112

General Licensing / 113

Paralegal Registration / 113

Education and Certification / 113

Direct Regulation—The Pros and Cons / 114

The Ethical Paralegal / 114

CHAPTER 5 Sources of American Law | 119

Introduction / 120

The Framework of American Law / 120

What Is the Law? / 120

Primary Sources of American Law / 120

Office Tech and Cybersecurity:

E-Communication and Confidentiality 90

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Adequate Supervision 94

Developing Paralegal

Skills: What If You Learn Your Client Is Planning to Commit a Crime? 95

Ethics Watch:

Social Events and Confidentiality 97

Featured Contributor:

Securing Client Information in the Digital Age 98

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Building an Ethical

Wall 103

Developing Paralegal

Skills: The Dangers of the Unauthorized Practice of

Law 109

Ethics Watch: The Statute of Limitations and the Duty of Competence 125

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Requirements for Specific Performance 125

Featured Contributor:

Sources of Law 132

Developing Paralegal

Skills: State versus Federal Regulation 135

Office Tech and Cybersecurity: Cyber

Issues and Sources of Law 139

Case Law and the Common Law Tradition / 121

The Doctrine of Stare Decisis / 121

Remedies at Law versus Remedies in Equity / 122

The Common Law Today / 126

The Terminology of Case Law / 126

The Adversarial System of Justice / 128

Constitutional Law / 128

The Federal Constitution / 129

State Constitutions / 131

Statutory Law / 131

Federal Statutes / 131

State Statutes / 134

Uniform Laws / 135

Administrative Law / 136

Agency Creation / 136

Rulemaking / 137

Investigation and Enforcement / 137

Adjudication / 138

National and International Law / 138

National Law / 138 International Law / 139

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Choice of Courts: State or Federal? 151

Office Tech and

Cybersecurity: Courts in the Internet Age 152

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Federal Court Jurisdiction 156

Developing Paralegal

Skills: To Sue or Not to

Sue 159

Featured Contributor:

Why Mediation May Be the Best Legal Alternative 162

Ethics Watch: Potential Arbitration Problems 168

CHAPTER 6 The Court System and Alternative Dispute Resolution | 145

Introduction / 146

Judicial Requirements / 146

Standing to Sue / 146

Types of Jurisdiction / 147

Jurisdiction of the Federal Courts / 148

Jurisdiction in Cyberspace / 150

Venue / 152

Judicial Procedures / 152

State Court Systems / 153

Trial Courts / 154

Appellate, or Reviewing, Courts / 154

The Federal Court System / 155

U.S. District Courts / 156

U.S. Courts of Appeals / 156

The United States Supreme Court / 157

Alternative Dispute Resolution / 158

Negotiation / 159

Mediation / 160

Arbitration / 162

Other ADR Forms / 166

Collaborative Law / 167

Court-Referred ADR / 167

Providers of ADR Services / 167

Online Dispute Resolution / 168

PART 2 Legal Procedures and Paralegal Skills 174

CHAPTER 7 Legal Research and Analysis | 175

Introduction / 176

Researching Case Law-The Preliminary Steps / 177

Defining the Issue / 178

Determining Your Research Goals / 179

Finding Relevant Cases / 182

Legal Encyclopedias / 183

Case Digests / 184

Annotations: American Law Reports / 185

Other Secondary Sources / 188

Using Judicial Opinions for Research / 189

The Case Reporting System / 190

State Court Decisions and Reporters / 190

Federal Court Decisions / 193

United States Supreme Court Decisions / 193

Analyzing Case Law / 195

The Components of a Case / 195

Analyzing Cases / 201

Summarizing and Briefing Cases / 202

IRAC: A Method for Briefing Cases / 203

Researching Constitutional and Statutory Law / 204

Finding Constitutional Law / 204

Finding Statutory Law / 204

Analyzing Statutory Law / 206

Two Steps in Statutory Analysis / 207

Previous Judicial Interpretation / 208

Legislative Intent / 208

Researching Administrative Law / 209

The Code of Federal Regulations / 209

Administrative Guidance Documents / 210

CHAPTER 8 Online Legal Research | 215

Introduction / 216

Free Legal Resources on the Internet / 216

General Legal Resources / 217

Specific Legal Resources / 218

Federal Law Starting Points / 219

Lexis and Westlaw / 221

Accessing Westlaw or Lexis / 222

Conducting a Search / 223

Checking Citations / 224

Selecting Databases / 227

Search Methods / 228

Advanced Technology Services / 229

Is Lexis or Westlaw Better? / 229

Alternative Legal Research Sources / 230

Bloomberg Law / 230

PACER / 230

Featured Contributor:

Is the Glass Half Full? 176

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Defining the Issues to Be Researched 178

Ethics Watch: Using Secondary Sources 190

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Reading Statutory

Law 207

Office Tech and

Cybersecurity: Looking

Ahead 209

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Internet-Based Research 217

Ethics Watch: Finding Ethics Opinions on the Web 218

Featured Contributor:

Tips for Doing Online Legal Research 220

Office Tech and

Cybersecurity: Stay Ahead

of the Curve 222

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Cite Checking on Westlaw 226

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Medical Research on the Internet 232

Fastcase / 230 Casemaker / 230

VersusLaw / 230

Conducting Online Research / 231

Plan Ahead—Analyze the Facts and Identify the Issues / 231

Online Research Strategies / 232 Evaluating What You Find / 234

Updating Your Results / 234

Locating People and Investigating Companies / 235

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Creating a User-Friendly Document 244

Office Tech and **Cybersecurity:** Online

"Plain English" Guidelines 249

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Effective Editing 250

Featured Contributor:

Tips for Making Legal Writing Easier 252

Ethics Watch: Letters and the Unauthorized Practice of

Law 260

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Reviewing Attorney-Generated Documents 261

CHAPTER 9 **Legal Writing: Form and Substance**

Introduction / 242

Receiving a Writing Assignment / 242

Understanding the Assignment / 242 Time Constraints and Flexibility / 243 Writing Approaches / 243

Writing Well / 243

Tools for Writers / 243 Choice of Format / 245 Write for Your Reader / 245 Outline the Material / 245 Organize the Material Logically / 245

Write Effective Sentences / 247

Take Advantage of Research and Writing Tools / 250

Pleadings, Discovery, and Motions / 251

Edit and Proofread Your Document / 249

General Legal Correspondence / 251

General Format for Legal Correspondence / 251

Types of Legal Letters / 255

The Legal Memorandum / 259

Format / 260

The Heart of the Memorandum / 264

The IRAC Method / 264

Conclusion / 264

Featured Contributor:

Pretrial Preparation 270

Developing Paralegal Skills: File Workup 276

Developing Paralegal

Skills: A Checklist for Drafting a Complaint in a Federal Civil Case 282

CHAPTER 10 **Civil Litigation: Before the Trial**

Introduction / 270

Civil Litigation—A Bird's-Eye View / 271

Pretrial Settlements / 272 Procedural Requirements / 272 A Hypothetical Lawsuit / 273

The Preliminaries / 273

The Initial Client Interview / 273 Preliminary Investigation / 274 Creating the Litigation File / 274

The Pleadings / 276

Drafting the Complaint / 276 Filing the Complaint / 281 Service of Process / 283 The Defendant's Response / 286 Filing a Motion / 289 The Scheduling Conference / 290

Traditional Discovery Tools / 290

Purpose of Discovery / 291 Interrogatories / 291

Copyright 2022 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. WCN 02-200-322

Depositions / 292

Requests for Production and Physical Examination / 299

Requests for Admission / 299

The Duty to Disclose under FRCP 26 / 300

Initial Disclosures / 300

Failure to Disclose / 301

Discovery Plan / 301

Subsequent Disclosures / 301

Discovery of Electronic Evidence / 303

The Advantages of Electronic Evidence / 303

The Sources of Electronic Evidence / 304

The Special Requirements of Electronic Evidence / 305

Maintenance of Electronic Records / 307

Do Not Keep What Is Not Needed / 308

Cost and Risk Controls / 308

Pretrial Motions / 308

Summary Judgment / 308

Considerations by the Court / 308

Ethics Watch: Keeping Client Information Confidential 292

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Deposition Summaries 300

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Electronic Discovery 305

Office Tech and

Cybersecurity: The Costs of Electronic Discovery 306

CHAPTER 11 Conducting Interviews and Investigations | 315

Introduction / 316

Planning the Interview / 316

Know What Information You Want / 316

Standardized Interview Forms / 317

Recording the Interview / 319

Interviewing Skills / 321

Interpersonal Skills / 321

Questioning Skills / 321

Listening Skills / 324

Interviewing Clients / 325

The Initial Client Interview / 325

Subsequent Client Interviews / 326

The Informational Interview / 327

Summarizing the Interview / 328

Interviewing Witnesses / 329

Types of Witnesses / 329

Questioning Witnesses / 332

Checking a Witness's Qualifications / 332

Winding Up the Interview / 334

Witness Statements / 334

Planning and Conducting Investigations / 335

Where Do You Start? / 335

Creating an Investigation Plan / 337

Locating Witnesses / 340

Accessing Government Information / 341

Investigation and the Rules of Evidence / 342

Summarizing Your Results / 344

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Thinking through a Fraud Investigation 317

Featured Contributor:

Ten Strategies for Effective Interviews and Investigations 326

Office Tech and Cybersecurity:

Communicating through Graphics 330

Ethics Watch: Interviewing Clients and the Unauthorized Practice of Law 331

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Checking the Accident Scene 336

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Accessing Government Information 342

CHAPTER 12 Trial Procedures | 350

Introduction / 351

Preparing for Trial / 351

Contacting and Preparing Witnesses / 352

Exhibits and Displays / 355

The Trial Notebook / 355

Copyright 2022 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. WCN 02-200-322

Developing Paralegal

Skills: New Tools in Trial Preparation 351

Office Tech and Cybersecurity: Take

Advantage of the Latest Tools 357

Ethics Watch: Communicating with

Jurors 361

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Locating Assets 372

Featured Contributor:

The Complex Roles in Litigation 374

Pretrial Conference / 357 Jury Selection / 358

Voir Dire / 359

Jury Selection Experts and Tools / 359

Challenges during Voir Dire / 360

The Paralegal's Role during Voir Dire / 360

Alternate Jurors / 361

The Trial / 361

The Paralegal's Duties / 361

Opening Statements / 362

The Plaintiff's Case / 362

Motion for a Directed Verdict / 365

The Defendant's Case / 365

Closing Arguments / 365

Jury Instructions / 367

The Verdict / 367

Posttrial Motions and Procedures / 369

Motions after the Trial / 369

Appealing the Verdict / 369

Enforcing the Judgment / 371

Judgment Creditor / 372

Social Media Tools at Work / 373

Featured Contributor:

Paralegals and Criminal Litigation 380

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Evolving Discovery Technology 396

Developing Paralegal

Skills: The Prosecutor's Office-Warrant Division 400

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Discovery in the Criminal Case 408

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Preparing Graphic Presentations 409

Ethics Watch: The

Importance of Accuracy 410

Office Tech and

Cybersecurity: Evolving Security and Forensic

Tools 412

CHAPTER 13 Criminal Law and Procedures 379

Introduction / 380

Defining Crime / 382

Key Differences between Civil Law and Criminal Law / 382

Civil Liability for Criminal Acts / 383

Classifications of Crimes / 383

Jurisdiction over Crimes / 385

Elements of Criminal Liability / 385

The Criminal Act / 385

State of Mind / 385

Corporate Criminal Liability / 386

Defenses to Criminal Liability / 386

Types of Crimes / 388

Violent Crime / 388

Property Crime / 388

Public Order Crime / 389

White-Collar Crime / 390

Organized Crime / 391

Cyber Crimes / 392

Cyber Theft / 392

Cyberstalking / 393

Hacking / 393

Prosecuting Cyber Crimes / 393

Social Media and Criminal Justice / 393

Uses of Social Media / 394

Protection of Social Media Information / 394

Other Social Media Issues / 394

Constitutional Safeguards / 394

The Bill of Rights / 395

The Exclusionary Rule / 395

The Miranda Rule / 396

Criminal Procedures prior to Prosecution / 397

Arrest and Booking / 397

Investigation after the Arrest / 400

The Prosecution Begins / 400

Prosecutorial Discretion / 401

Complaint and Initial Appearance / 401

Preliminary Hearing / 403

Grand Jury Review / 403

Arraignment / 404

Pretrial Motions / 405

Discovery / 408

The Trial / 409

The Presumption of Innocence / 410

The Privilege against Self-Incrimination / 410

The Right to a Speedy Trial / 411

The Requirement for a Unanimous Verdict / 411

Sentencing / 411

Diversion / 413

Appeal / 413

PART 3 Key Elements of the Law 420

CHAPTER 14 Tort Law, Product Liability, and Consumer Law | 421

Introduction / 422

The Basis of Tort Law / 422

Intentional Torts / 422

Intentional Torts against Persons / 423

Intentional Torts against Property / 429

Negligence / 431

The Duty of Care and Its Breach / 432

The Injury Requirement and Damages / 433

Causation / 434

Defenses to Negligence / 435

Special Negligence Doctrines and Statutes / 436

Cyber Torts: Defamation Online / 438

Liability of Internet Service Providers / 438

Piercing the Veil of Anonymity / 438

Strict Liability / 439

Product Liability / 439

Theories of Product Liability / 439

Defenses to Product Liability / 442

Consumer Law / 442

Deceptive Sales Practices / 443

Deceptive Advertising / 443

Labeling and Packaging Laws / 444

Sales Transactions / 444

Consumer Health and Safety / 444

Consumer Credit Protection / 445

Developing Paralegal

Skills: A Claim of False Imprisonment 425

Office Tech and

Cybersecurity: Identity Theft, Spam, and Related Legal Issues 430

Featured Contributor:

In-Depth Research and Attention to Detail 436

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Handling Product-Related Claims 440

Ethics Watch:

Confidentiality and Product Liability 441

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Discharged for Garnishment 447

Ethics Watch: Potential Conflicts of Interest 455

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Assessing Contractual Capacity 461

Office Tech and Cybersecurity:

Cybersecurity and Government Contracting 462

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Contract Review 466

Developing Paralegal

Skills: New Strategies in Intellectual Property 472

Featured Contributor:

Strategies for Protecting Intellectual Property: The Intellectual Property Audit 478

Ethics Watch: Accurate Paperwork and Real Estate

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Reviewing the

Closing Package 494

Featured Contributor:

Protecting the Real Estate

Purchaser: The Legal Due-

Diligence Team 496

Cybersecurity: Online

Resources Concerning

Insurance Claims 502

Office Tech and

Transactions 490

CHAPTER 15 Contracts and Intellectual Property

Law | 453

Introduction / 454

Requirements to Form a Valid Contract / 454

Bilateral and Unilateral Contracts / 454

Contract Validity / 454 Agreement / 455

Consideration / 458

Contractual Capacity / 460

Legality / 460

Defenses to Contract Enforceability / 461

Genuineness of Assent / 462

Sales Contracts and Warranties / 465

The Scope of UCC Article 2 / 465 Warranties under the UCC / 465

Contract Performance and Remedies / 467

Contract Performance / 467 Contract Remedies / 467

Remedies for Breach of Sales Contracts / 469

Online Contracting and Electronic Signatures / 470

Online Offers and Acceptances / 470

E-Signatures / 471

Intellectual Property Law / 472

Growing Value of Intellectual Property / 473

Patents / 473 Copyrights / 474

Trademarks and Related Property / 476

Trade Secrets / 477

CHAPTER 16 Real Property and Insurance Law | 485

Introduction / 486

Real Property / 486

Ownership Rights in Property / 486

The Transfer and Sale of Real Property / 488

Leases / 492

Commercial Leases / 494

Property Law and the Paralegal / 494

Insurance Law / 496

Classifications of Insurance / 497

Insurance Terminology / 498

Insurable Interest / 499

The Insurance Contract / 499

Self-Insurance / 504

Captive Insurance / 504

The Paralegal and Insurance / 504

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Medical Records 505

CHAPTER 17 Family Law and Estates | 50

Introduction / 510 Family Law / 510

Marriage Requirements / 510

Common Law Marriages / 511

Marital Duties / 511

Parental Rights and Obligations / 513

Adoption / 515

Marriage Termination / 517

Child Custody / 519

Child Support / 520

Spousal Support / 521

Property Division / 522

Prenuptial Agreements / 524

Family Law and the Paralegal / 524

Wills, Trusts, and Estates / 525

Wills / 525

Trusts / 528

Other Estate-Planning Devices / 530

Estate Administration / 531

Wills, Trusts, and Estates and the Paralegal / 533

CHAPTER 18 Business Organizations and Employment Law | 538

Introduction / 539

Forms of Business Organization / 539

Sole Proprietorships / 539

Partnerships / 541

Corporations / 544

Limited Liability Organizations / 551

The Paralegal and Business Organizations / 553

Agency Law / 553

Employees and Independent Contractors / 554

Agency Formation / 556

Fiduciary Duties / 556

Agency Relationships and Third Parties / 557

Employment Law / 558

Employment at Will / 559

Restrictive Covenants / 559

Wrongful Discharge / 559

Wage Laws / 560

Family and Medical Leave / 561

State Workers' Compensation Laws / 562

Employment Discrimination / 563

Employment Law and the Paralegal / 566

CHAPTER 19 Bankruptcy and Environmental Law | 572

Introduction / 573

The Bankruptcy Code / 573

Goals of Bankruptcy Law / 573

Bankruptcy Courts / 573

Types of Bankruptcy Relief / 574

Liquidation Proceedings / 574

Voluntary Bankruptcy / 575

Involuntary Bankruptcy / 577

Automatic Stay / 577

Bankruptcy Estate / 578

Creditors' Meeting / 578

Creditors' Claims / 578

Exemptions / 579

The Homestead Exemption / 580

Featured Contributor: A

Changing, Challenging, and Caring Area of Legal Practice 512

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Preparing for Property-Settlement Negotiations 522

Ethics Watch: Wills and Paralegal Supervision 526

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Drafting a Client's

Will 527

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Helping Clients with Estate Planning 531

Office Tech and Cybersecurity:

Cybersecurity and Digital Assets 532

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Reserving a Corporate Name 547

Office Tech and

Cybersecurity: Corporate Data Security 549

Featured Contributor:

Going Corporate 554

Developing Paralegal

Skills: A Case of

Respondeat Superior 558

Ethics Watch: Dispensing Legal Advice 561

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Assisting with a Workers' Compensation

Claim 563

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Preparing a Proof of

Claim 579

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Tools Needed to Assist Bankruptcy Clients 584

Ethics Watch: The Perils of Independent Practice 589

Developing Paralegal

Skills: Monitoring the *Federal Register* 591

Office Tech and Cybersecurity:

Environmental Compliance 593

Featured Contributor:

Learning Well and Finding Your Place 598 The Bankruptcy Trustee / 580 Distribution of Property / 581

Discharge / 582

Individual Repayment Plans / 584

Filing the Petition / 584 Filing the Plan / 584

Confirmation of the Plan / 585 Objections to the Plan / 585 Modification of the Plan / 585

Discharge / 585

Reorganizations / 586

Workouts / 586

Best Interests of the Creditors / 586

Debtor in Possession / 587 Creditors' Committees / 587 The Reorganization Plan / 587

Bankruptcy Law and the Paralegal / 588

Environmental Law / 589

Federal Regulation of the Environment / 590

Air Pollution / 591 Water Pollution / 592 Wetlands / 594 Toxic Chemicals / 595

Environmental Law and the Paralegal / 597

Looking to the Future / 597

Appendices

- A NALA's Code of Ethics and Professional Responsibility | 603
- B NALA's Model Standards and Guidelines for the Utilization of Paralegals | 605
- C NALS Code of Ethics and Professional Responsibility 615
- D NALA's Certification Program 617
- E NALS Certification | 623
- F The Constitution of the United States | 625
- G Spanish Equivalents for Important Legal Terms in English | 639

Endnotes | 645

Glossary 647

Index | 663

Preface

The paralegal profession continues to grow. The Bureau of Labor Statistics estimates that the number of practicing paralegals will expand on average by four thousand a year. At the same time, there is constant evolution in how legal services are provided. More and more services are delivered online, though clients still generally prefer the assurance that comes from personal contact. The human dimension is not going away.

In keeping with these developments, *Paralegal Today*, Eighth Edition, covers the traditional topics needed in paralegal education, while emphasizing the many online tools now available. We use real-world examples in the text plus substantive features to add interest to the subject matter. Those who have used the text before know how extensive the supplements package is.

All key areas of paralegal studies are covered in *Paralegal Today*, Eighth Edition: careers, ethics and professional responsibility, pretrial preparation, trial procedures, criminal law, legal interviewing and investigation, legal research and analysis, online legal research, and legal writing. The book also provides in-depth coverage of substantive law, including bankruptcy, contracts, intellectual property, torts, product liability, real property, estates, business organizations, and family law.

A Practical, Focused Approach

This book has been streamlined in response to user comments. Some instructors believed the book had too many features, which tended to distract from the core messages. For the Eighth Edition, the design has been simplified to keep the focus on the main messages in each chapter. The substantive content has not been reduced. In editing the new edition, we solicited input from law professors, practitioners, and a law librarian to be sure the content is current and well rounded.

In addition to the substantive content covered in each chapter, *Paralegal Today*, Eighth Edition, presents practical advice and "hands-on" activities for paralegals-to-be. Exercises at the end of each chapter provide opportunities for students to review their knowledge and to apply the concepts and skills discussed in the chapter. A special introduction to the student, *Skill Prep*, which precedes Chapter 1, contains practical advice and tips on how to master the legal concepts and procedures presented in the text. The lessons there also apply later, on the job.

Paralegal Today, Eighth Edition, illustrates paralegal working environments and on-the-job situations. Each chapter includes challenges to a paralegal's ethical obligations. These realistic situations give students a better understanding of how seemingly abstract ethical rules affect the legal tasks performed by attorneys and paralegals.

An Emphasis on Technology

We have made sure that *Paralegal Today*, Eighth Edition, is the most up-to-date text available. We include features and materials in this edition that show how developments in technology are affecting the law, the legal workplace, and paralegal tasks.

In particular, we have added an all-new feature titled *Office Tech and Cybersecurity* in each chapter. These materials will help students learn how to take advantage of technology to enhance their work quality and productivity as paralegals.

The Organization of This Textbook

As paralegal instructors know, materials should be presented in such a way that students can build their skills and knowledge base block by block. This is a difficult task because, no matter where you begin, you will need to refer to some information that has not yet been presented to students. For example, if you try to explain on the first or second day of class what paralegals do, you will necessarily have to mention terms that may be unfamiliar to students, such as *deposition* and *procedural law*. In this text, the authors have attempted to organize the topics discussed in such a way that students are not mystified by terms and concepts not yet covered.

Content Sequence

We have attempted to accommodate the needs of paralegal instructors as much as possible by organizing the text into three basic parts.

- Part 1 (Chapters 1–6) focuses primarily on the paralegal profession—its origins and development, the wide array of paralegal careers, the requirements and procedures that students can expect to encounter in the legal workplace, and the threshold ethical responsibilities of the profession. Part 1 also discusses the structure of the American legal system—the sources of law and the courts.
- Part 2 (Chapters 7–13) looks in detail at legal procedures and paralegal skills. The student learns about the basic procedural requirements in civil and criminal litigation, as well as the skills involved in conducting interviews and investigations, legal research and analysis, and legal writing.
- Part 3 (Chapters 14–19) focuses on substantive law. The areas of law treated
 in this part of the text include torts, product liability, consumer law, contracts,
 intellectual property, insurance, real property, estates, family law, business organizations, employment, bankruptcy, and environmental law. Additionally, the
 chapters covering substantive law include many numbered, highlighted examples to provide real-world illustrations of the legal concepts being discussed.

A Flexible Arrangement

We believe that this organization of the materials allows the greatest flexibility for instructors. Although to a certain extent each chapter in the text builds on information contained in previous chapters, the chapters and parts can also be used independently. In other words, instructors who wish to change the sequence of topics to fit their course design preferences, or who do not want to use all the chapters, will find it easy to do so.

Key Features in Every Chapter

As mentioned earlier, the Eighth Edition features a new Office Tech and Cybersecurity feature in every chapter. In addition, we include the other learning features to instruct and pique interest.

Office Tech and Cybersecurity (New to This Edition)

A new feature called *Office Tech and Cybersecurity* appears in each chapter of the Eighth Edition. This feature focuses on how working in an online world affects various aspects of paralegal work. It also shows how paralegals can use technology to

their benefit for greater productivity while warning of the potential dangers of being "connected." Some of the new Office Tech and Cybersecurity features include the following:

- Deploying Cybersecurity in a Law Firm (Chapter 2)
- E-Communications and Confidentiality (Chapter 4)
- Cybersecurity and Government Contracting (Chapter 15)
- Cybersecurity and Digital Assets (Chapter 17)

Developing Paralegal Skills

The Developing Paralegal Skills feature presents hypothetical examples of paralegals at work to help your students develop crucial paralegal skills. Numbering at least two per chapter, the feature includes checklists and practical tips. Some examples are the following:

- Interviewing a Client (Chapter 1)
- Creating a Trust Account (Chapter 3)
- File Workup (Chapter 10)
- Thinking through a Fraud Investigation (Chapter 11)
- Preparing for Property-Settlement Negotiations (Chapter 17)

Ethics Watch

The Ethics Watch feature typically takes a student into a hypothetical situation that clearly presents an ethical problem. All are tied to specific ethical principles of NALA, The Paralegal Association, the National Federal of Paralegal Associations (NFPA), or the American Bar Association (ABA). When possible, students are told what they should and should not do in the particular situations discussed. In some instances, consultation with a supervising attorney is necessary. Some examples include the following:

- Paralegal Expertise and Legal Advice (Chapter 1)
- Social Events and Confidentiality (Chapter 4)
- Using Secondary Sources (Chapter 7)
- Wills and Paralegal Supervision (Chapter 17)

Featured Contributor Articles

Each chapter of Paralegal Today, Eighth Edition, contains a Featured Contributor article written by an educator or an expert in the field. These unique articles offer practical tips and real-world insights on some aspect of paralegal work relating to the topic covered in the chapter. Here are examples of new Featured Contributor articles for this edition:

- Tips for Effective Communication (Chapter 3)
- Securing Client Information in the Digital Age (Chapter 4)
- Pretrial Preparation (Chapter 10)
- Ten Strategies for Effective Interviews and Investigations (Chapter 11)

OFFICE TECH AND CYBERSECURITY

ONLINE RESOURCES FOR PARALEGALS

Paralegal Associations

Many paralegals belong to NALA or to NFPA, discussed ear-lier. Both organizations offer excellent gateways for paralegal resources. NALA's website (nala.org) displays information on nany professional certification and continuing education pro-

The ABA is not just for lawyers. The Standing Comby paralegals, and information on hundreds of paralegal educa

schedule of legal writing seminars, and other relevant links

The Paralegal Gateway

Law firms produce a wide range of online newsletters and sites on specific areas of law. In addition, the LawFrof blog network (lawprofesorblogs.com) provides many subject-specific blogs (known as blavygs) by law professors that offer commentary on new cases, statutes, and news from trustworthy sources. Using online resources will keep you up to date on relevant developments in lay

DEVELOPING PARALEGAL SKILLS

INTERVIEWING A CLIENT

mation about the masons for the divorce, finances and assets, and desiend custody arrangements. This information is needed to assist the supervieng attorney in determining whether to take the case. The information also heighs Beneda to prepare documents to be fleed with the court should the attorney represent the client. Beneda enjoys the work because she likes helping people, and often people who are getting divorced need both emotional and

Checklist for Client Interviews

- Introduce yourself as a paralegal.

ETHICS WATCH

FEATURED CONTRIBUTOR

TIPS TO JUMPSTART YOUR PARALEGAL CAREER



Antoinette France-Harris, J.D.

BIOGRAPHICAL NOTE

Antoinette France-Harris has been a licensed attorney since 1998. She began he

transactions.

1 2010, Professor Harris began teaching Paralegal Studies full time at
Allanta Technical College, In addition, she acted as department chair for two years before becoming assi
professor in Legal Studies at Clayton State University in August 2014. She is now an associate professor
at Clayton State. Professor Harris has received a B.S. from Harvard University, an M.S.W. from Columbia sity and a I.D. from the University of Per

ive, but it will give the reader a starting

... continuously enhance your education..."

ing or formal education. Many paralegal jobs require an associate's degree. For broader appeal, job seekers might pursue a bachelor's

corporate law

Law that governs the formation,

financing, merger and acquisition,

and termination of corporations, as

who own and run the corporation.

well as the rights and duties of those

Other Special Pedagogical Features

As before, we have included a number of special pedagogical features, discussed below.

Chapter Outlines

On every chapter-opening page, a *Chapter Outline* lists the first-level headings within the chapter. These outlines allow you and your students to tell at a glance what topics are covered in the chapters.

Chapter Objectives

In every chapter, just following the *Chapter Outline*, we list primary *chapter objectives*. Your students will know immediately what is expected of them as they read each chapter.

Vocabulary and Margin Definitions

Legal terminology is often a major challenge for beginning paralegal students. We use an important pedagogical device—margin definitions—to help your students understand legal terms. Whenever an important term is introduced, it is highlighted in the text and defined in the margin of the page.

At the end of each chapter, all these terms are listed in alphabetical order in *Key Terms and Concepts*, along with the page number on which each appears. Your students can examine this list to make sure that they understand all of the important terms introduced in the chapter. All the terms are also listed and defined in the *Glossary* at the end of the text. Spanish equivalents to many important legal terms in English are provided in a separate glossary in Appendix G.



Chapter Summaries

We have included a chapter summary at the conclusion of each chapter in the Eighth Edition. Each summary conveys important concepts from the chapter. This visually appealing format facilitates the students' review of the chapter contents.

Exhibits and Forms

To help illustrate important forms, letters, memoranda, and so forth relating to paralegal work, many exhibits are filled in with hypothetical data. Exhibits of this type in *Paralegal Today*, Eighth Edition, include those listed below:

- A Sample Client Bill (Chapter 3)
- A Sample Settlement Agreement (Chapter 6)
- A Sample Demand Letter (Chapter 9)
- Memorandum in Support of a Motion to Suppress (Chapter 13)

Chapter-Ending Materials for Review and Study

Every chapter contains chapter-ending pedagogical materials designed to provide a wide variety of assignments for your students. The chapter-ending pedagogy begins with the chapter summaries, followed by the *Key Terms and Concepts*, which we have already mentioned. These elements are followed by the materials described below.

Questions for Review

Every chapter includes a number of straightforward questions for review. These questions are designed to test students' knowledge of the basic concepts discussed in the chapter.

Ethics Questions

Because of the importance of ethical issues in paralegal training, we have also included one or more ethical questions at the end of each chapter. Each question presents a hypothetical situation, followed by one or two questions about what the paralegal should do to resolve the dilemma.

Practice Questions and Assignments

The hands-on approach to learning paralegal skills is emphasized in the practice questions and assignments that appear at the end of each chapter. A particular situation is presented, and the student is asked to actually carry out an assignment.

Group Projects

Each chapter provides an assignment designed to promote teamwork, usually for groups of four students, with specific instructions for each student's tasks.

Appendices

To make this text a reference source for your students, we have included the appendices listed below.

- A NALA's Code of Ethics and Professional Responsibility
- B NALA's Model Standards and Guidelines for the Utilization of Paralegals
- C NALS Code of Ethics and Professional Responsibility
- D NALA's Certification Program
- E NALS Certification
- F The Constitution of the United States
- G Spanish Equivalents for Important Legal Terms in English

For Users of the Seventh Edition

Those of you who have used the Seventh Edition of *Paralegal Today* will want to know some of the major changes that have been made for the Eighth Edition. Generally, major elements in the Seventh Edition—including the text, exhibits, features, and end-of-chapter pedagogy—have been revised or updated as necessary to reflect new laws, procedures, and technological developments. We also constantly revise for added clarity and accuracy.

In the interest of streamlining, we dropped the *In the Office* feature. A new feature titled *Office Tech and Cybersecurity* replaces the previous *Technology and Today's Paralegal* feature. The new feature retains some of the previous material but reflects the growing concern about online security and the increasing use of technical tools in practice. We constantly work to improve the text and thank users of previous editions, as well as other paralegal educators, for advice.

Revisions to Selected Chapters

Every chapter has been revised for accuracy and timeliness of content. Next, we summarize some specific changes to the text.

- Chapter 1: Today's Professional Paralegal. Updated coverage of professional paralegal organizations' certifications, including materials on the new definition of *paralegal*, which was adopted by the American Bar Association (and others) in 2020. (Note that Appendix D also details the 2018 modifications to NALA's Certified Paralegal examination.)
- Chapter 3: The Inner Workings of the Law Office. A new subsection discussing the issues that have been raised by the Me Too movement and its implications in the workplace, as well as an updated Exhibit on *Timeslip*. A new Office Tech and Cybersecurity outlines "Proper and Effective E-Mail Communications," and a new Featured Contributor article examines "Ten Tips for Effective Communications" in the paralegal landscape.
- Chapter 5: Sources of American Law. New materials include three new Chapter Objectives on the American legal system, two margin definitions (per curiam opinion and Islamic law system), a new section on the new United States—Mexico—Canada Agreement (USMCA), and another on the Islamic law system (sharia). A new Office Tech and Cybersecurity feature discusses "Cyber Issues and Sources of Law."
- Chapter 7: Legal Research and Analysis. Three updated Exhibits reflect 2019
 and 2020 citations, as well as new materials on slip opinions and unofficial
 reporters, the uses of case syllabuses, and using judicial opinions for research.
- Chapter 8: Online Legal Research. Three new Chapter Objectives on legal resources online, a new subsection on SSRN.com, and another on advanced technology services. Five of the chapter's Exhibits are updated to show current screens for major legal research services and websites.
- Chapter 10: Civil Litigation: Before the Trial. Four new Chapter Objectives and two new margin definitions (judicial economy and sovereign immunity), as well as a new Featured Contributor article titled "Pretrail Preparation."
- Chapter 11: Conducting Interviews and Investigations. Additional coverage of proper processes and techniques for interviews and investigations, including a new section on initial interviews, discussions on details to consider before interviews and investigations, and how to handle client interviews. A new margin definition (*crimes of moral turpitude*) and a new *Featured Contributor* article titled "Ten Strategies for Effective Interviews and Investigations."
- Chapter 12: Trial Procedures. Expanded coverage of protecting confidential information and of electronic evidence in a courtroom.
- Chapter 17: Family Law and Estates. Four new Chapter Objectives on family law, a new numbered example on child-custody, and new materials discussing modern DNA testing's effects on paternity and adoption lawsuits. New details on surrogacy, frozen embryos and divorce, and a new section on "asset protection trusts." A new Office Tech and Cybersecurity feature titled "Cybersecurity and Digital Assets" for estate-planning purposes. Two new Ethics Questions in the end-of-chapter pedagogy.
- Chapter 18: Business Organizations and Employment Law. New numbered examples illustrating piercing the corporate veil, professional corporations, and types of stock. A new subsection on retaliatory discharge and another on religious discrimination. New materials touch on gender identity and sexual orientation under "Employment Discrimination." A new Office Tech and Cybersecurity feature titled "Corporate Data Security."

Supplements Available for the Eighth Edition

Instructor Resources

Additional instructor resources for this product are available online. Instructor assets include an Instructor's Manual, Educator's Guide, PowerPoint® slides, and a test bank powered by Cognero®. Sign up or sign in at www.cengage.com to search for and access this product and its online resources.



MindTap

MindTap for Miller/Paralegal Today, The Legal Team at Work is a highly personalized fully online learning platform of authoritative content, assignments, and services offering you a tailored presentation of course curriculum created by your instructor. MindTap for Miller/Paralegal Today, The Legal Team at Work guides you through the course curriculum via an innovative learning path where you complete reading assignments, annotate your readings, complete homework, and engage with quizzes and assessments. MindTap includes a variety of web apps known as "MindApps"—allowing functionality like having the text read aloud to you, as well as MindApps that allow you to synchronize your notes with your personal Evernote account. MindApps are tightly woven into the MindTap platform and enhance your learning experience.

How MindTap helps students succeed?

• Use the Progress App to see where you stand at all times—individually and compared with the highest performers in your class.

- ReadSpeaker reads the course material to you.
- MyNotes provides the ability to highlight text and take notes that link back to the MindTap material for easy reference when you are studying for an exam or working on a project.
- A glossary that is only a click away.
- Flashcards are pre-created to help you memorize the key terms.

Not using MindTap in your course?

- It's an online destination housing ALL your course material and assignments, neatly organized to match your syllabus.
- It is loaded with study tools that help you learn the material more easily.
- To learn more, go to www.cengage.com/mindtap or ask your instructor to try it out.

Please note that the Internet resources provided in this book are of a time-sensitive nature, and URL addresses often change or may be deleted.

Acknowledgments for Previous Editions

Numerous careful and conscientious individuals have helped us in this undertaking from the beginning. We continue to be indebted to those whose contributions helped to make previous editions of *Paralegal Today* a valuable teaching/learning text. We particularly thank the following paralegal educators for their insightful criticisms and comments:

Laura Barnard

Lakeland Community College, OH

Lia Barone

Norwalk Community College, CT

Carol Brady

Milwaukee Area Technical College, WI

Rhonda Brashears

Certified Paralegal, TX

Debra Brown

Coastline Community College, CA

Chelsea Campbell

Lehman College, NY

Linda S. Cioffredi

Woodbury College, VT

Lora C. Clark

Pitt Community College, NC

Jeptha Clemens

Northwest Mississippi Community College, MS

Arlene A. Cleveland

Pellissippi State Technical Community College, TN

Lynne D. Dahlborg

Suffolk University, MA

xxviii PREFACE

Kevin R. Derr

Pennsylvania College of Technology, PA

Bob Diotalevi

Florida Gulf Coast University, FL

Donna Hamblin Donathan

Marshall University Community

College, OH

Dora Dye

City College of San Francisco, CA

Wendy B. Edson

Hilbert College, NY

Jameka Ellison

Everest University, FL

Leslie Sturdivant Ennis

Samford University, AL

Pamela Faller

College of the Sequoias, CA

OrsolyaFuri

Bridgewater State College, MA

Gary Glascom

Cedar Crest College, PA

ReginaGraziani

University of Hartford, CT

Dolores Grissom

Samford University, AL

Paul D. Guymon

William Rainey Harper College, IL

Sharon Halford

Community College of Aurora, CO

Vera Haus

McIntosh College, NH

Linda Wilke Heil

Central Community College, NE

Jean A. Hellman

Loyola University, IL

Melinda Hess

College of Saint Mary, NE

Louise Hoover

Rockford Business College, IL

Marlene L. Hoover

El Camino College, CA

Susan J. Howery

Yavapai College, AZ

Jill Jasperson

Utah Valley State College, UT

Melissa M. Jones

Samford University, AL

Deborah Winfrey Keene

Lansing Community College, MI

Jennifer Allen Labosky

Davidson County Community College, NC

Dora J. Lew

California State University, East Bay, CA

TerriLindfors

Globe University/ Minnesota School of

Business, MN

Mary Hatfield Lowe

Westark Community College, AR

Gerald A. Loy

Broome Community College, NY

Brian McCully

Fresno City College, CA

Paula Montlary

Florida Career College, FL

Linda Mort

Kellogg Community College, MI

Constance Ford Mungle

Oklahoma City University, OK

H. Margaret Nickerson

William Woods College, MO

Martha G. Nielson

University of California, San Diego, CA

Elizabeth L. Nobis

Lansing Community College, MI

Joy D. O'Donnell

Pima Community College, AZ

Anthony Piazza

David N. Myers College, OH

Francis D. Polk

Ocean County College, NJ

Ruth-Ellen Post

Rivier University, NH

Elizabeth Raulerson

Indian River Community College, FL

Kathleen Mercer Reed

University of Toledo, OH

Lynn Retzak

Lakeshore Technical Institute, WI

Evelyn L. Riyhani

University of California, Irvine, CA

Melanie A. P. Rowand

California State University, East Bay, CA

Vitonio F. San Juan

University of La Verne, CA

Susan F. Schulz

Southern Career Institute, FL

Sean Scott

St. Petersburg College, FL

Joanne Spillman

Westwood College Online, CO

Roger Stone

Hilbert College, NY

John G. Thomas III

Northampton County Community

College, PA

Derek Thomson

Bryant & Stratton College, NY

Loretta Thornhill

Hagerstown Community College, MD

Julia Tryk

Cuyahoga Community College, OH

Stonewall Van Wie III

Del Mar College, TX

Lorrie Watson

Orangeburg Calhoun Technical College, SC

Anita Whitby

Park University, MO

Acknowledgments for the Eighth Edition

During the preparation of the Eighth Edition of *Paralegal Today*, several professionals offered us penetrating criticisms, comments, and suggestions for improving the text. While we haven't been able to comply with every request, the reviewers listed below will see that many of their suggestions have been taken to heart.

- Lynn Crossett, Texas State University, TX
- Dora J. L. Dye, City College of San Francisco, CA
- Emma Wright Fletcher, University of Cincinnati, OH
- Wendie Witzke, Western Technical College, WI

We also are grateful to the following authors of the *Featured Contributor* articles in *Paralegal Today*, Eighth Edition, for enhancing the quality of our book with their tips and illuminating insights into paralegal practice:

- John Bell, Greenville Technical College, SC
- Deborah Bouchoux, Georgetown University, DC
- Kristine Condon, Kankakee Community College, IL
- Matt Cornick, Clayton State University, GA
- John DeLeo, Central Penn College, PA
- Ceaser Espinoza, El Centro College, TX
- Antoinette France-Harris, Clayton State University, GA
- Regina Graziani, University of Hartford, CT
- P. Darrel Harrison, San Diego Miramar College, CA

- Daniel Hinkel, Corporate counsel, GA
- Robyn Ice, Tulane University, LA
- Steven Kempisty, Bryant & Stratton College, NY
- Judith Mathers Maloney, Molloy College, NY
- Tom McClure, Illinois State University, IL
- Bill McSorley, Midlands Tech, SC
- William Putman, Paralegal educator/author, NM
- Kenneth O'Neil Salver, Education consultant, KY
- Angela Schneeman, Paralegal and author, MN
- Janis Walter, University of Cincinnati, OH

In preparing this text, we were also the beneficiaries of the expertise brought to the project by the editorial and production staff of Cengage Learning. Our Product Manager, Abbie Schulthesis, put together a supplements package that is without parallel in the teaching and learning of paralegal skills. Mara Vuillaume, our Learning Designer, was also incredibly helpful in putting together the teaching/learning package. We also wish to thank Betty Dickson, Senior Content Project Manager, for her assistance throughout the production process.

A number of other individuals contributed significantly to the quality of *Paralegal Today*, Eighth Edition. We wish to thank Roger Meiners for his assistance in creating what we believe is the best introductory paralegal text on the market today. We also thank Suzanne Jasin for her special efforts on the project. Finally, we are indebted to the staff at SPi Global, Inc., our compositor, whose ability to generate the pages for this text quickly and accurately made it possible for us to meet our ambitious printing schedule.

We know that we are not perfect. If you or your students have suggestions on how we can improve this book, write to us. That way, we can make *Paralegal Today* an even better book in the future. We promise to answer every communication that we receive.

Roger LeRoy Miller Mary Meinzinger

Skill Prep

A Paralegal Skills Module



WHAT'S INSIDE

After reading this skills module, you will be better prepared to . . .

- Make good choices (College Prep, p. xxxiii)
- Manage your time (Time Prep, p. xxxiv)
- Be engaged in your studies (Study Prep, p. xxxvi)
- Study for quizzes and exams (Test Prep, p. xxxix)

- Read your textbook efficiently (Read Prep, p. xl)
- Write quality papers (Write Prep, p. xlii)
- Make a presentation (Presentation Prep, p. xlvi)

xxxi

Welcome

With this course and this textbook, you've begun what we hope will be a stimulating and thought-provoking journey into the study of law. In this course, you will learn about the paralegal profession, the basic structure of the legal system, and substantive law, such as torts and criminal law. You'll also learn about procedural issues, such as civil litigation and criminal procedure. This book will help you develop paralegal skills, including legal research and writing, interviewing, and investigation. Building your base of knowledge will get you well on your way to a great future as a paralegal.

We have developed this skills module to help you get the most out of this course and textbook. Whether you are a recent high school graduate moving on to college or a working professional continuing your education, what you want most when you study is **RESULTS**. You want to become familiar with the issues and ideas presented in this textbook so that you can talk about them during class and remember them as you prepare for exams and assignments. Natural talent alone will not ensure your success as a paralegal; you also must develop effective study skills and good work habits. This study skills module is designed to help you do just that. With tips on lifestyle decisions, time management, how to be more engaged when you study, how to get the most out of your textbook, how to prepare for quizzes and exams, how to write papers, and how to prepare and deliver a presentation, this guide will help you develop the skills you need to be the best learner you can be.

College Prep

It takes several things to succeed in a college class—especially concentration and commitment to your studies. To do this, you need energy. When you are full of energy, time seems to pass quickly, and it is easier to get things done. As you know, when you don't have energy, time feels as if it is dragging, and even your favorite activities can feel like a burden. To have the energy you need to be a great college learner, it is important to make good lifestyle choices.

Here are some suggestions to help you succeed as a student and prepare for your future career.

- Too often, we become so busy with other aspects of our lives that we neglect our health. It is crucial that you eat a balanced diet, exercise regularly, and get enough sleep. If you don't take care of your physical well-being, other areas of your life will suffer. Research shows that people who are physically active learn better in school.
- Most people who succeed have a plan: they know what they want to accomplish and when. Do you have a life plan for after college? If not, you can start by making a list of your lifetime goals, even though they may change later on. You can also create a career plan that includes a list of skills you will need to succeed. Then, in addition to your classes, choose outside activities that will help you develop the skills that can lead to a good job.
- Whenever we do something new, whether in college or in other areas of life, we usually aren't very good at it. We can always benefit from feedback



- from those who are accomplished in that area, such as instructors or people working in a given field. Therefore, welcome feedback that is offered to you, and if it isn't given, ask for it.
- Do you want to become a better writer? Your college probably has a writing center with resources to help you with your writing assignments. If not, you should be able to find a tutor who will help you figure out what you are trying to communicate and how to put it effectively on paper. Clear writing is a critical skill for paralegals.
- Do you want to become a better public speaker?
 Consider using your campus's audiovisual resources
 to sharpen this essential skill. Record yourself giving a presentation, and then critique your performance. Invite a few friends to give their reaction,
 too. Join a school organization such as a debate or
 drama club to gain confidence in front of a live
 audience. Being comfortable talking to strangers is
 a much-needed skill for most paralegals.
- Learn to be a good listener. Hearing is not the same thing as listening, and many people are not good listeners. People often hear what they want to hear. We all filter information through our own experiences and interests. When talking with friends, instructors, or family members, focus carefully on what they say, as you may learn something unexpected. To be a good paralegal, you will need to listen well to attorneys' instructions and to clients, too.
- Be very careful about what you post on the Internet. A good rule of thumb is, "Don't post anything that you wouldn't want the world to know." Many employers search the Internet for information concerning potential employees, and one embarrassing photo, comment, or tweet can have long-term negative consequences. Law firms are particularly careful about hiring people with good character.
- Practice good record-keeping skills. Filing systems are an easy way to keep track of your money. First,

Most people who succeed have a plan.

label file folders for different categories related to your personal finances, such as paycheck stubs, bank statements, and receipts from purchases. If you find you need another category, just set up a new folder. Paralegals must have excellent file systems. Do it in your own life now, and it will come naturally on the job.

- Be thankful for the people who care about you. Your family and good friends are a precious resource.
 When you have problems, don't try to solve them by yourself. Don't focus on disappointments. Talk to the people in your life who want you to succeed and be happy, and listen to their advice.
- No doubt you have seen people jump to conclusions that were not correct. Critical thinking is a crucial skill for paralegals, and, as with any other skill, you will get better at it with practice. Whether you are considering a friend's argument, a test question, a

- major purchase, or a personal problem, carefully weigh the evidence, balance strengths and weaknesses, and make a reasoned decision.
- Rather than worrying about approval from others, seek approval from the person who matters the most—yourself. Your conscience will tell you when you are doing the right thing. Don't let worries about what others think run—or ruin—your life.

If you don't take care of your physical well-being, other areas of your life will inevitably suffer.

Time Prep

Doing well in college-level courses involves a lot of work. You have to go to class, read the textbook, pay attention to lectures, take notes, complete homework assignments, write papers, and take exams. On top of that, there are other things in your life that call for your time and attention. You have to take care of your home, run daily errands, take care of family, spend time with friends, work a full-or part-time job, and find time to unwind. With all that you're involved in, knowing how to manage your time is critical if you want to succeed as a learner.

The key to managing your time is knowing how much time you have and using it well. At the beginning of every term, you should evaluate how you use your time. How much time do you spend working? Caring for your home and family? Watching TV or movies? Studying? Keep a record of what you do hour by hour for a full week. Once you see where all your time goes, you can decide which activities you might change in order to manage your time more effectively. If you think you are busy in college, wait until you are a practicing paralegal! Then, time management will be even more critical.

Here are some other helpful tips on how to make the most of your time.

 Plan your study schedule in advance. At the beginning of each week, allocate time for each subject that you need to study. If it helps, put your schedule on a calendar computer program or on your smartphone for efficient daily planning. Learning to schedule tasks you need to complete and recording upcoming deadlines will serve you well when you are a paralegal.

- Don't be late for classes, meetings, or other appointments. If you find that you have trouble being on time, adjust your planning to arrive ten minutes early to all engagements. That way, even if you are "late," you will still be on time. It is critical to learn to be prompt for clients and court matters.
- To reduce the time spent looking for information on the Internet, start with a clear idea of your research task. Use a trusted search engine, and focus only on the subject at hand. Do not allow yourself to be sidetracked by other activities such as checking e-mail or social networking.
- Set aside a little time each day to assess whether you are on track to meet the requirements in all your classes, whether that involves studying for a test, writing a paper, or completing a group project. Don't let deadlines "sneak up" on you. A calendar program or app can help you keep track of target dates and can even give you friendly reminders.

- Nothing wastes more time—or is more aggravating—than having to redo schoolwork that was somehow lost on your computer. Back up all of your important files periodically. You can copy them onto an external hard drive or a USB flash drive.
- Concentrate on doing one thing at a time. Multitasking is a trap we often fall into that leads to doing several things quickly but poorly. When you are studying, don't carry on a text conversation with a friend or have one eye on the Internet.
- Set goals for yourself, not only with schoolwork but also with responsibilities in other areas of your life.
 If you tell yourself, "I will have this task done by Monday at noon and that other task finished before dinner on Wednesday," you will find it much easier to balance the many demands on your time.
- Regularly checking e-mail and text messages not only interrupts the task at hand, but is also an easy excuse for not working. Set aside specific times of the day to check and answer e-mail, and, when necessary, make sure that your cell phone is off or out of reach. A reply text can wait until you complete your work.
- Sometimes, a task is so large that it seems impossible, making it more tempting to put off. When given a large assignment, break it into a series of small assignments. Then, make a list of the assignments, and as you finish each one, give yourself the satisfaction of crossing it off your list.
- Many of us have a particular time of day when we are most alert, whether early morning, afternoon,

- or night. Plan to do schoolwork during your most efficient time, and set aside other times of the day for activities that do not require serious concentration.
- Slow down! Some people think they are getting more work done by rushing, but that often leads to poor decisions, mistakes, and errors of judgment, all of which waste time. Work well, not quickly, and you will save time.
- In marketing, to bundle means to combine several products. In time management, it means combining two activities to free up some time. For example, if you need to exercise and want to socialize, bundle the two activities by doing activities with your friends. Take along some schoolwork when you head to the laundromat—you can get a lot done while you're waiting for the spin cycle to end. Or, you can record class lectures (ask the professor for permission) so that you can review class material while you're running errands.
- Develop a habit of setting time limits for tasks, both in and out of school. You will find that with a time limit in mind, you will waste less time and work more efficiently, a prized skill among paralegals.
- A Chinese adage goes, "The longest journey starts with a single step." If you are having trouble getting started on a project or assignment, identify the first task that needs to be done. Then do it! This helps avoid time-wasting procrastination.



Study Prep

What does it take to be a successful student? Success does not depend on how naturally smart you are. Successful students and paralegals aren't born, they're made. What this means is that even if you don't consider yourself naturally "book smart," you can do well in this course by developing study skills that will help you understand, remember, and apply key concepts in school and on the job.

There are five things you can do to develop good study habits:

- Be engaged.
- Make an outline.
- Ask questions.
- Mark your text.
- Take notes.

Be Engaged

If you've ever heard elevator music, you know what easy listening is like—it stays in the background. You don't pay attention to it, and you probably forget it after a few minutes. That is *not* what you should be doing in class. You have to be engaged. Being *engaged* means listening to discover (and remember) something. As you listen with attention, you will hear what your instructor believes is important. One way to make sure that you are listening attentively is to take notes. Doing so will help you focus on the professor's words and will help you identify the most important parts of the lecture.

Ask Questions

If you are really engaged in a course, you will ask a question or two whenever you do not understand something. You can also ask a question to get your instructor to share her or his opinion on a subject. However you do it, true engagement requires you to be a participant in your class. The more you participate, the more you will learn (and the more your instructor will know who you are!).

Take Notes

Note taking has a value in and of itself, just as outlining does. The physical act of writing makes you a more efficient learner, since you must think about what you are writing. In addition, your notes provide a guide to what your instructor thinks is important. That means you will

have a better idea of what to study before the next exam if you have a set of notes that you took during class. Paralegals usually take notes while listening to work instructions, doing research, or talking to clients or witnesses. It is a skill that increases the quality and accuracy of results.

Make an Outline

As you read through each chapter of this textbook, you might make an outline—a simple method for organizing information. You can create an outline as part of your reading or at the end of your reading. Or you can make an outline when you reread a section before moving on to the next one. The act of physically writing an outline will help you retain the material, thereby giving you a better chance of earning a higher grade. Even if you make an outline that is no more than the headings in this text, you will be studying more efficiently than you would be otherwise.

To make an effective outline, you have to be selective. Outlines that contain all the information in the text are not very useful. Your objectives in outlining are, first, to identify the main concepts and, then, to add details that support those main concepts.

Your outline should consist of several levels written in a standard format. The most important concepts are assigned Roman numerals; the second most important, capital letters; the third most important, numbers; and the fourth most important, lowercase letters. Here is a quick example from part of Chapter 12:

- I. Trial Procedures
 - A. Preparing for trial
 - B. Contacting and preparing witnesses
 - Contacting witnesses and issuing subpoenas
 - 2. Preparing witnesses for trial
 - a. Tell witnesses what to expect
 - b. Role playing
 - c. Numerous details
 - C. Exhibits and displays
 - D. The trial notebook

Legal "Shorthand"

Members of the legal profession usually use abbreviations and symbols as part of a shorthand system to allow for greater efficiency when taking notes. Rather than writing out common legal terms, here are some of the shorthand abbreviations and symbols often used:

 $\begin{array}{ll} \Delta \text{ or } D & \text{defendant} \\ \pi \text{ or } P & \text{plaintiff} \\ \approx & \text{similar to} \end{array}$

★ not equal to, not the same as

therefore a/k/a also known as

atty attorneyb/c or b/cz because

b/p burden of proof

certcertioraridelydeliverydepdepositiondiscdiscovery

JML judgment as a matter of law

JNOV judgment non obstante veredicto

(notwithstanding the verdict)

JOP judgment on the pleadings

juris or jx jurisdiction

K contract

mtg mortgage

n/a not applicable

neg negligence

PL paralegal

Q as a consequence, consequently

\$ or sec
s/b should be

S/F Statute of Frauds
S/L statute of limitations

You can expand on this list by creating and using other symbols or abbreviations. Once you develop a workable shorthand system, routinely use it in the classroom and then carry it over to your job. Most organizations you will work for will also use symbols and abbreviations, which you can add to your shorthand system.

Mark Your Text

Because you own your textbook for this course, you can greatly improve your learning by marking your text. By doing so, you will identify the most important concepts of each chapter, reinforce your knowledge as you mark, and at the same time make a handy study guide for reviewing material at a later time.

Different Ways of Marking

The most common form of marking is to underline important points. The second most common method is to use a felt-tipped highlighter, or marker, in yellow or some other transparent color. Marking also includes circling, numbering, using arrows, jotting brief notes, or any other method that allows you to remember things when you go back to skim the pages in your textbook prior to an exam.

Why Marking Is Important

Marking is important for the same reason that outlining is—it helps you to organize the information in the text. It allows you to become an active participant in the mastery of the material. Researchers have shown that the physical act of marking, just like the physical acts of note taking and outlining, helps you better retain the material. The clearer the material is organized in your mind, the more you'll remember. Studies indicate that active readers (those who engage with the text by outlining or marking) typically do better on exams. One reason this may be true is that outlining and/or marking require sharper concentration, and greater concentration facilitates greater recall.

Two Points to Remember When Marking

Read one section at a time before you do any extensive marking. You can't mark a section until you know what is important, and you can't know what is important until you read the whole section. Don't mark too extensively. Just as an outline cannot contain everything that is in a text (or, with respect to note taking, in a lecture), marking the whole book isn't useful. If you do mark the whole book, when you go back to review the material, your markings will not help you remember what was important.

The key to marking is *selective* activity. Mark each page in a way that allows you to see the most important points at a glance. You can follow up your marking by adding information to your subject outline.

With these skills in hand, you will be well on your way to becoming a great student. Here are a few more hints that will help you develop effective study skills.

- Put a check mark next to material that you do not understand. After you have completed an entire chapter, take a break. Then, work on better comprehension of the checkmarked material.
- As a rule, do schoolwork as soon as possible after class. The longer you wait, the more likely you will be distracted by television, video games, phone calls from friends, or social networking.
- Many students are tempted to take class notes on a laptop computer. This is a bad idea for two reasons. First, it is hard to copy diagrams or take other "artistic" notes on a computer. Second, it is easy to get distracted by checking e-mail or surfing the Web. (Notice, too, how many people look over the shoulders of other students who are surfing the Web rather than paying attention.)
- We study best when we are free from distractions such as the Internet, phones, and our friends. That's why your school library is often the best place to work. Set aside several hours a week of "library time" to study where you can concentrate in peace and quiet. When you are working as a paralegal, being able to devote quiet attention to material is a key skill.
- Reward yourself for studying! From time to time, allow yourself a short break so you can surf the Internet, go for a jog, take a nap, or do something else that you enjoy. These interludes will refresh your mind and enable you to study longer and more efficiently.
- A neat study space is important. Staying neat forces you to stay organized. When your desk is covered with piles of papers, notes, and textbooks, things

- are being lost even though you may not realize it. The only work items that should be on your desk are those that you are working on that day.
- Often, studying involves pure memorization. To help with this task, create flash (or note) cards.
 On one side of the card, write the question or term. On the other side, write the answer or definition. Then, use the cards to test yourself on the material.
- Mnemonic (ne-mon-ik) devices are tricks that increase our ability to memorize. A well-known mnemonic device is the phrase ROY G BIV, which helps people remember the colors of the rainbow—red, orange, yellow, green, blue, indigo, violet. You can create your own mnemonics for whatever you need to memorize. The more fun you have coming up with mnemonics for yourself, the more useful they will be.
- Take notes twice. First, take notes in class. Then, when you get back home, rewrite your notes. The rewrite will act as a study session by forcing you to think about the material. Invariably, it will lead to questions that are crucial to the study process.
- By turning headings or subheadings in all of your textbooks into questions—and then answering them—you will increase your understanding of the material.
- Multitasking while studying is generally a bad idea. You may think that you can review your notes and watch television at the same time, but your ability to study will almost certainly suffer. It's OK to give yourself Internet or TV breaks from schoolwork, but do not combine the two.



Test Prep

You have worked hard reading your textbook, paying close attention in class, and taking good notes. Now it's test time, when that hard work pays off. To do well on an exam, of course, it is important that you learn the concepts in each chapter as thoroughly as possible; however, there are additional strategies for taking exams. You should know which reading materials and lectures will be covered. You should also know in advance what type of exam you are going to take—essay or objective or both. (Objective exams usually include true/false, fill-in-the-blank, matching, and multiple-choice questions.) Finally, you should know how much time will be allowed for the exam. By taking these steps, you will reduce any anxiety you feel as you begin the exam, and you'll be better prepared to work through the entire exam.

Follow Directions

Students are often in a hurry to start an exam, so they don't bother to read the instructions. The instructions can be critical, however. In a multiple-choice exam, for example, if there is no indication that there is a penalty for guessing, then you should never leave a question unanswered. Even if only a few minutes are left at the end of an exam, you should guess on the questions about which you are uncertain.

Additionally, you need to know the weight given to each section of an exam. In a typical multiple-choice exam, all questions have equal weight. In other types of exams, particularly those with essay questions, different parts of the exam carry different weights. You should use these weights to apportion your time accordingly. If the essay portion of an exam accounts for 20 percent of the total points on the exam, you should not spend 60 percent of your time on the essay.

Finally, you need to make sure you are marking the answers correctly. Some exams require a No. 2 pencil to fill in the dots on a machine-graded answer sheet. Other exams require underlining or circling. In short, you have to read and follow the instructions carefully.

Objective Exams

An objective exam consists of multiple-choice, true-false, fill-in-the-blank, or matching questions that have only one correct answer. Students usually commit one of two

errors when they read objective-exam questions: (1) they read things into the questions that do not exist, or (2) they skip over words or phrases. Most test questions include key words such as:

• all

always

never

only

If you miss any of these key words, you may answer the question wrong even if you know the information. Consider the following example:

True or False? All cases in which one person kills another person are considered murder.

In this instance, you may be tempted to answer "True," but the correct answer is "False," because the charge of murder is only brought in cases in which one person *intentionally* killed another. In cases in which a person unintentionally killed another, the charge is manslaughter.

Whenever the answer to an objective question is not obvious, start with the process of elimination. Throw out the answers that are clearly incorrect. Typically, the easiest way to eliminate incorrect answers is to look for those that are meaningless, illogical, or inconsistent. Often, test authors put in choices that make perfect sense and are indeed true, but they are not the answer to the question under study.

If you follow the above tips, you will be well on your way to becoming an efficient, results-oriented student. Here are a few more suggestions that will help you get there.

- Instructors usually lecture on subjects they think are important, so those same subjects are also likely to be on the exam. This is another reason to take extensive notes in class.
- Review your lecture notes immediately after each class, when the material is still fresh in your mind. Then, review each subject once a week, giving

Grades aren't a matter of life and death, and worrying about them can have a negative effect on your performance. yourself an hour to go back over what you have learned. Reviews make tests easier because you will feel comfortable with the material.

- At times, you will find yourself studying for several exams at once. When this happens, make a list of each study topic and the amount of time needed to prepare for that topic. Then, create a study schedule to reduce stress and give yourself the best chance for success.
- When preparing for an exam, you might want to get a small group together (two or three other students) for a study session. Discussing a topic out loud can improve your understanding of that topic and will help you remember the key points that often come up on exams.
- Some professors make old exams available, either by posting them online or putting them on file in the library. Old tests can give you an idea of the kinds of questions the professor likes to ask. You can also use them to take practice exams.
- Cramming just before the exam is a dangerous proposition. Cramming tires the brain unnecessarily and adds to stress, which can severely hamper your testing performance. If you've studied wisely, have confidence that you will recall the information when you need it.
- Be prepared. Make a list of everything you will need for the exam, such as pens or pencils, a watch, and a calculator. Arrive at the exam early to avoid having to rush, which will only add to your stress. Good preparation helps you focus on the task at hand.
- Be sure to eat before taking a test. Having some food in your stomach will give you the energy you need to concentrate. Don't go overboard, however. Too much food or heavy foods will make you sleepy during the exam.

Cramming just before the exam is a dangerous proposition.

- When you first receive your exam, look it over quickly to make sure that you have all the pages. If you are uncertain, ask your professor or exam proctor. This initial scan may uncover other problems as well, such as illegible print or unclear instructions.
- If the test requires you to read a passage and then answer questions about that passage, read the questions first. This way, you will know what to look for as you read.
- With essay questions, look for key words such as "compare," "contrast," and "explain." These will guide your answer. If you have time, make a quick outline. Most importantly, get to the point without wasting your time (or your professor's) with statements such as "There are many possible reasons for"
- When you finish a test early, your first instinct may be to hand it in and get out of the classroom as quickly as possible. It is always a good idea, however, to review your answers. You may find a mistake or an area where some extra writing will improve your grade.
- Grades aren't a matter of life and death, and worrying too much about a single exam can have a
 negative effect on your performance. Keep exams
 in perspective. If you do poorly on one test, it's not
 the end of the world. Rather, it should motivate you
 to do better on the next one.

Read Prep

This textbook is the foundation for your introduction to paralegal studies. It contains key concepts and terms that are important to understanding law and the practice of law. This knowledge will be important not only for you to succeed in this course but for your future paralegal career. For this reason, it is essential that you develop good reading skills so that you can get the most out of this textbook and other class materials.

All students know how to read, but reading for a college-level course goes beyond being able to recognize words on a page. Students must read to learn. Read a chapter with the goal of understanding its key points and how it relates to other chapters. In other words, you have to be able to explain what you read. To do this, you need good reading habits and skills, which are necessary for success as a paralegal.

Reading for Learning Requires Focus

Reading (and learning from) a textbook is not like reading a newspaper, magazine, or novel. The point of reading for learning isn't to get through the material as fast as you can or to skip parts to get to the stuff you think is most interesting. A textbook is a source of deep information about a subject. The goal of reading a textbook is to learn as much of that information as you can. This kind of reading requires concentration. When you read to learn, you have to make an effort to focus on the book and tune out other distractions so that you can comprehend and remember the information you have read.

How to read this book:

- 1. Preview.
- 2. Read in detail.
- 3. Review.

Reading for Learning Takes Time

When reading your textbook, you need to go slow. The most important part of reading for learning is not how many pages you get through or how fast you get through them. Instead, the goal is to learn the key concepts that are presented in each chapter. To do that, you need to read slowly, carefully, and with great attention. It will be the same on the job—careful reading is essential in legal work.

Reading for Learning Takes Repetition

Even the most well-read scholar will tell you that it's difficult to learn from a textbook just by reading through it once. To read for learning, you have to read assigned material a number of times. This doesn't mean, though, that you just sit and read the same section three or four times. Instead, you should follow a preview-read-review process. The sections that follow provide a good guide.

The First Time

The first time you read a section of the book, you should preview it. During the preview, pay attention to how the chapter is formatted. Look over the title of the chapter, the section headings, and highlighted or bold words. This will give you a good preview of the important ideas in the chapter. You should also pay close attention to any graphs, illustrations, or figures that are used in the chapter, since these provide a visual illustration of important concepts. You should also give special attention to the first and last sentence of each paragraph. First sentences usually introduce the main point of the paragraph, while last sentences usually sum up what was presented in the paragraph.

The goal of previewing is to identify the main idea of the section. Of course, you may not be able to come up with a detailed answer yet, but that's not the point of previewing. Instead, the point is to develop some general ideas about what the section is about so that when you do read it in full, you know what to look for.

The Second Time

After the preview, you'll want to read through the passage in detail. During this phase, it is important to read with a few questions in mind: What is the main point of this paragraph? What does the author want me to learn from this? How does this relate to what I read before? Keeping these questions in mind will help you be an attentive reader who is actively focusing on the main ideas of the passage.

After you have completed a detailed read of the chapter, take a break so that you can rest your mind (and your eyes). When you resume studying, you should write up a summary or paraphrase of what you just read. You don't need to produce a detailed, lengthy summary of the whole chapter. Instead, try to come up with a brief paraphrase that covers the most important ideas of the chapter. This paraphrase will help you remember the main points of the chapter, allow you to check the accuracy of your reading, and provide a good guide for later review.

The Third Time (and Beyond)

After you've finished a detailed reading of the chapter, you should take the time to review the chapter (at least once, but maybe even two, three, or more times). During this step, you should review each paragraph and the notes you made, asking this question: "What was this paragraph about?" At this point, you'll want to answer the question in some detail, drawing on what you learned during your first two readings.

Reading with others is also a great way to review the chapter. After completing the reading individually, group members should meet and take turns sharing what they learned from their reading. Explaining the material to others will reinforce and clarify what you already know. It also provides an opportunity to learn from others. Gaining another perspective on a passage will increase your knowledge, since different people will key in on different things during a reading.

Whether you're reading your textbook for the first time or reviewing it for the final exam, here are a couple of tips that will help you be an attentive and attuned reader.

1. Set Aside Time and Space

To read effectively, you need to be focused and attentive, and that won't happen if your phone is buzzing with text messages every two minutes, if the TV is on in the background, or if you're surrounded by friends or family. Similarly, you won't be able to focus on your book if you're trying to read in a room that is too hot or too cold, or sitting in an uncomfortable chair. So when you read, find a quiet, comfortable place that is free from distractions where you can focus on one thing—learning from the book.

2. Take Frequent Breaks

Reading your textbook shouldn't be a test of endurance. Rest your eyes and your mind by taking a short break every twenty to thirty minutes. The concentration you need to read attentively requires lots of energy, and you won't have enough energy if you don't take frequent breaks. Studies indicate that hard concentration can rarely go beyond thirty minutes, as our minds need small rest breaks.

3. Keep Reading

Effective reading is like playing sports or a musical instrument—practice makes perfect. The more time that you spend reading, the better you will be at learning from your textbook. Your vocabulary will grow, and you'll have an easier time learning and remembering information in all your courses.

Write Prep

A key part of succeeding as a student is learning how to write well. Whether writing papers, presentations, essays, or even e-mails to your instructor, you have to be able to put your thoughts into words and do so with force, clarity, and precision. In this section, we outline a three-phase process that you can use to write virtually anything.

- 1. Getting ready to write
- 2. Writing a first draft
- 3. Revising your draft

Phase 1: Getting Ready to Write

First, make a list. Divide the ultimate goal—a finished paper—into smaller steps that you can tackle right away. Estimate how long it will take to complete each step. Start with the date your paper is due and work backwards to the present. For example, if the due date is December 1 and you have about three months to write the paper, give yourself a cushion and schedule November 20 as your target completion date. Plan what you want to get done by November 1, and then list what you want to get done by October 1.

How to Pick a Topic

To generate ideas for a topic, any of the following approaches work well:

 BRAINSTORM WITH A GROUP. There is no need to create in isolation. You can harness the energy and the natural creative power of a group to help you.

- **SPEAK IT.** To get ideas flowing, start talking. Admit your confusion or lack of clear ideas. Then just speak. By putting your thoughts into words, you'll start thinking more clearly.
- USE FREE WRITING. Free writing, a technique championed by writing teacher Peter Elbow, is also very effective when trying to come up with a topic. There's only one rule in free writing: Write without stopping. Set a time limit—say, ten minutes—and keep your fingers dancing across the keyboard the whole time. Ignore the urge to stop and rewrite. There is no need to worry about spelling, punctuation, or grammar during this process.

Refine Your Idea

After you've come up with some initial ideas, it's time to refine them:

- SELECT A TOPIC AND WORKING TITLE. Using your instructor's guidelines for the paper or speech, write down a list of topics that interest you. Write down all of the ideas you think of in two minutes. Then choose one topic. The most common pitfall is selecting a topic that is too broad. "Trial Procedure" is not a useful topic for your paper. Instead, consider something narrow that can be accomplished with some detail, such as "Motions for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict."
- WRITE A THESIS STATEMENT. Clarify what you want to say by summarizing it in one concise sentence.

This sentence, called a *thesis statement*, refines your working title. A thesis is the main point of the paper; it is a declaration of some sort. You might write a thesis statement such as "Motions for judgment notwithstanding the verdict (JNOV) have a low success rate but are an essential tool in obtaining a favorable outcome for a client."

Set Goals

Effective writing flows from a purpose. Think about how you'd like your reader or listener to respond after considering your ideas.

- If you want to persuade someone to your point of view, make your writing clear and logical. Support your assertions with evidence.
- If your purpose is to move the reader into action, explain exactly what steps to take and offer solid benefits for doing so.

To clarify your purpose, state it in one sentence—for example, "The purpose of this paper is to discuss and analyze how motions for JNOV are constructed and presented at trial."

Begin Research

In the initial stage, the objective of your research is not to uncover specific facts about your topic. That comes later. First, you want to gain an overview of the subject. You must first learn enough about such motions and how they are used to be able to explain them to others.

Make an Outline

An outline is a kind of map. When you follow a map, you avoid getting lost. Likewise, an outline keeps you from wandering off topic. To create your outline, follow these steps:

- 1. Review your thesis statement, and identify the three to five main points you need to address in your paper to support your thesis that such motions are worth filing.
- 2. Next, look closely at those three to five major points or categories, and think about what minor points or subcategories you want to cover in your paper. Your major points are your big ideas; your minor points are the details you need to fill in under each of those ideas.
- 3. Ask for feedback. Have your instructor or a classmate review your outline and offer suggestions for improvement. Did you choose the right categories and subcategories? Do you need more detail

anywhere? Does the flow from idea to idea make sense?

Do In-Depth Research

Three-by-five-inch index cards are an old-fashioned but invaluable tool for in-depth research. Simply write down one idea or piece of information per card. This makes it easy to organize—and reorganize—your ideas and information. Organizing research cards as you create them saves time. Use rubber bands to keep *source cards* (cards that include the bibliographical information for a source) separate from *information cards* (cards that include nuggets of information from a source) and to maintain general categories.

When creating your cards, be sure to:

- Copy all of the information correctly.
- Always include the source and page number on information cards.
- Be neat and organized. Write legibly, using the same format for all of your cards.

In addition to source cards and information cards, generate *idea cards*. If you have a thought while you are researching, write it down on a card. Label these cards clearly as containing your own ideas.

Phase 2: Writing a First Draft

To create your draft, gather your index cards, and confirm that they are arranged to follow your outline. Then write about the ideas in your notes. It's that simple. Look at your cards and start writing. Write in paragraphs, with one idea per paragraph. As you complete this task, keep the following suggestions in mind:

- REMEMBER THAT THE FIRST DRAFT IS NOT FOR KEEPS. You can worry about quality later; your goal at this point is simply to generate lots of words and lots of ideas.
- WRITE FREELY. Many writers prefer to get their first draft down quickly and would advise you to keep writing, much as in free writing. Of course, you may pause to glance at your cards and outline. The idea is to avoid stopping to edit your work.
- **BE YOURSELF.** Let go of the urge to sound "official" or "scholarly," and avoid using unnecessary big words or phrases. Instead, write in a natural voice. Address your thoughts not to the teacher but to an intelligent student or someone you care about. Visualize this person, and choose the three or four most important things you'd say to her about the topic.

- MAKE WRITING A HABIT. Don't wait for inspiration to strike. Make a habit of writing at a certain time each day.
- **GET PHYSICAL.** While working on the first draft, take breaks. Go for a walk. Speak or sing your ideas out loud. From time to time, practice relaxation techniques and breathe deeply.
- HIDE THE DRAFT IN YOUR DRAWER FOR A WHILE.
 Schedule time for rewrites before you begin, and schedule at least one day between revisions so that you can let the material sit. The brain needs that much time to disengage itself from the project.

Phase 3: Revising Your Draft

During this phase, keep in mind the saying, "Write in haste; revise at leisure." When you are working on your first draft, the goal is to produce ideas and write them down. During the revision phase, however, you need to slow down and take a close look at your work. One guideline is to allow 50 percent of writing time for planning, researching, and writing the first draft. Then use the remaining 50 percent for revising.

There are a number of especially good ways to revise your paper:

1. Read it out loud.

The combination of voice and ears forces us to pay attention to the details. Is the thesis statement clear and supported by enough evidence? Does the introduction tell your reader what's coming? Do you end with a strong conclusion that expands on what's in your introduction rather than just restating it?

2. Have a friend look over your paper.

This is never a substitute for your own review, but a friend can often see mistakes you miss. Remember, when other people criticize or review your work, they are not attacking you. They're just commenting on your paper. With a little practice, you will learn to welcome feedback because it is one of the fastest ways to approach the revision process.

3. Cut.

Look for excess baggage. Avoid at all costs and at all times the really, really terrible mistake of using way too many unnecessary words, a mistake that some student writers often make when they sit down to write papers for the various courses in which they participate at the fine institutions of higher learning that they are fortunate enough to attend. (Example: The previous sentence could be edited to "Avoid unnecessary words.") Also, look for places where two (or more) sentences could be rewritten as one. Resist

the temptation to think that by cutting text you are losing something. You are actually gaining a clearer, more polished product. For maximum efficiency, make the larger cuts first—sections, chapters, pages. Then go for the smaller cuts—paragraphs, sentences, phrases, words.

4. Paste.

In deleting both larger and smaller passages in your first draft, you've probably removed some of the original transitions and connecting ideas. The next task is to rearrange what's left of your paper or speech so that it flows logically. Look for consistency within paragraphs and for transitions from paragraph to paragraph and section to section.

5. Fix.

Now it's time to look at individual words and phrases. Define any terms that the reader might not know, putting them in plain English whenever you can. In general, focus on nouns and verbs. Using too many adjectives and adverbs weakens your message and adds unnecessary bulk to your writing. Write about the details, and be specific. Also, check your writing to ensure that you are:

- Using the active voice. Write "The research team began the project" rather than (passively) "A project was initiated."
- Writing concisely. Instead of "After making a timely arrival and perspicaciously observing the unfolding events, I emerged totally and gloriously victorious," be concise with "I came, I saw, I conquered."
- Communicating clearly. Instead of "The speaker made effective use of the television medium, asking in no uncertain terms that we change our belief systems," you can write specifically, "The reformed criminal stared straight into the television camera and shouted, 'Take a good look at what you're doing! Will it get you what you really want?'"

6. Prepare.

In a sense, any paper is a sales effort. If you hand in a paper that is wearing wrinkled jeans, its hair tangled and unwashed and its shoes untied, your instructor is less likely to buy it. To avoid this situation, format your paper following accepted standards for margin widths, endnotes, title pages, and other details. Ask your instructor for specific instructions on how to cite the sources used in writing your paper. You can find useful guidelines in the MLA Handbook for Writers of Research Papers, a book from the Modern Language Association. If you cut and paste material from a Web page directly into your paper, be sure to place that material in quotation marks and cite the source. Before referencing an e-mail message, verify the sender's identity. Remember that anyone sending e-mail can pretend

to be someone else. Use quality paper for the final version of your paper. For an even more professional appearance, bind your paper with a plastic or paper cover.

7. Proofread.

As you ease down the home stretch, read your revised paper one more time. This time, go for the big picture and look for the following using this proofreading checklist:

- A clear thesis statement.
- Sentences that introduce your topic, guide the reader through the major sections of your paper, and summarize your conclusions.
- Details—such as quotations, examples, and statistics—that support your conclusions.
- Lean sentences that have been purged of needless words.
- Plenty of action verbs and concrete, specific nouns.
- Finally, look over your paper with an eye for spelling and grammar mistakes. Use contractions sparingly if at all. Use your word processor's spell-check, by all means, but do not rely on it completely as it will not catch everything.

When you are through proofreading, take a minute to savor the result. You've just witnessed something of a miracle—the mind organizing diverse ideas into a creative work of art! That's the *aha!* in writing.

Academic Integrity: Avoiding Plagiarism

Using another person's words, images, or other original creations without giving proper credit is called *plagiarism*. Plagiarism amounts to taking someone else's work and presenting it as your own—the equivalent of cheating on a test. The consequences of plagiarism can range from a failing grade to expulsion from school. Plagiarism can be unintentional, as some students don't understand the research process. Sometimes they leave writing until the last minute and don't take the time to organize their sources of information. Also, some people are raised in cultures where identity is based on group membership rather than individual achievement. These students may find it hard to understand how creative work can be owned by an individual.

To avoid plagiarism, ask an instructor where you can find your school's written policy on this issue. Don't assume that you can resubmit a paper you wrote for another class for a current class; many schools will regard this as plagiarism even though you wrote the paper. The

basic guidelines for preventing plagiarism are to cite a source for each phrase, sequence of ideas, or visual image created by another person. While ideas cannot be copyrighted, the specific way that an idea is *expressed* can be. You also need to list a source for any idea that is closely identified with a particular person. The goal is to clearly distinguish your own work from the work of others. There are several ways to ensure that you do this consistently.

- IDENTIFY DIRECT QUOTES. If you use a direct quote from another writer or speaker, put that person's words in quotation marks. If you do research online, you might find yourself copying sentences or paragraphs from a Web page and pasting them directly into your notes. This is the same as taking direct quotes from your source. To avoid plagiarism, identify such passages in an obvious way.
- PARAPHRASE CAREFULLY. Paraphrasing means restating the original passage in your own words, usually making it shorter and simpler. Students who copy a passage word for word and then just rearrange or delete a few phrases are running a serious risk of plagiarism. Remember to cite a source for paraphrases, just as you do for direct quotes. When you use the same sequence of ideas as one of your sources—even if you have not paraphrased or directly quoted—cite that source.
- NOTE DETAILS ABOUT EACH SOURCE. For books, details about each source include the author, title, publisher, publication date, location of publisher, and page number. For articles from print sources, record the article title and the name of the magazine or journal as well. If you found the article in an academic or technical journal, also record the volume and number of the publication. A librarian can help identify these details. If your source is a Web page, record as many identifying details as you can find—author, title, sponsoring organization, URL, publication date, and revision date. In addition, list the date that you accessed the page. Be careful when using Web resources, as not all websites are considered legitimate sources. Wikipedia, for instance, may not be regarded as a legitimate source for certain information; the National Institute of Justice's website, however, is acceptable.
- CITE YOUR SOURCES AS ENDNOTES OR FOOT-NOTES TO YOUR PAPER. Ask your instructor for examples of the citation format to use. You do not need to credit wording that is wholly your own, nor do you need to credit general ideas, such as the suggestion that people use a to-do list to plan their time. But if you borrow someone else's words or images to explain an idea, do give credit.

Presentation Prep

In addition to reading and writing, your success as a student will depend on how well you can communicate what you have learned. Most often, you'll do so in the form of presentations. Many people are intimidated by the idea of public speaking, but it really is just like any other skill—the more often you do it, the better you will get. Developing a presentation is similar to writing a paper. Begin by writing out your topic, purpose, and thesis statement. Then carefully analyze your audience by using the strategies listed below.

If your topic is new to listeners . . .

- Explain why your topic matters to them.
- Relate the topic to something that they already know and care about.
- Define any terms that they might not know.

If listeners already know about your topic . . .

- Acknowledge this fact at the beginning of your speech.
- Find a narrow aspect of the topic that may be new to listeners.
- Offer a new perspective on the topic, or connect it to an unfamiliar topic.

If listeners disagree with your thesis . . .

- Tactfully admit your differences of opinion.
- Reinforce points on which you and your audience agree.
- Build credibility by explaining your qualifications to speak on your topic.
- Quote experts who agree with your thesis—people whom your audience is likely to admire.
- Explain to your audience that their current viewpoint has costs for them and that a slight adjustment in their thinking will bring significant benefits.

If listeners might be uninterested in your topic . . .

- Explain how listening to your speech can help them gain something that matters deeply to them.
- Explain ways to apply your ideas in daily life.

Remember that audiences generally have one question in mind: "So what?" They want to know that your presentation relates to their needs and desires. To convince people that you have something worthwhile to say, think of your main topic or point. Then see if you can complete this sentence: "I'm telling you this because"

Organize Your Presentation

Consider the length of your presentation. Plan on delivering about one hundred words per minute. Aim for a lean presentation—enough words to make your point but not so many as to make your audience restless. Leave your listeners wanting more. When you speak, be brief, and then be seated. Presentations are usually organized in three main parts: the introduction, the main body, and the conclusion.

1. The introduction.

Rambling presentations with no clear point or organization put audiences to sleep. Solve this problem by making sure your introduction conveys the point of your presentation. The following introduction, for example, reveals the thesis and indicates exactly what's coming. It conveys that the speech will have three distinct parts, each in logical order:

Prison overcrowding is a serious problem in many states. I intend to describe prison conditions around the country, the challenges these conditions create, and how various states are addressing the issue.

Some members of an audience will begin to drift during any speech, but most people pay attention for at least the first few seconds.

Highlight your main points in the beginning sentences of your speech. People might tell you to open your introduction with a joke, but humor is tricky. You run the risk of falling flat or offending somebody. Save jokes until you have plenty of experience and know your audiences well. Also avoid long, flowery introductions in which you tell people how much you like them and how thrilled you are to address them. If you lay it on too thick, your audience won't believe you. Get down to business, which is what the audience wants. Draft your introduction, and then come back to it after you have written the rest of your presentation. In the process of creating the main body and conclusion, your thoughts about the purpose and main points of your speech might change.

2. The main body.

The main body of your speech accounts for 70 to 90 percent of your presentation. In the main body, you develop your ideas in much the same way that you develop a written paper. Transitions are especially important in presentations. Give your audience a signal when you change points. Do so by using meaningful pauses, verbal emphasis, and transitional phrases: "On the other hand, until the public

realizes what is happening to children in these countries . . ." or "The second reason police officers use *Miranda* cards is" In long presentations, recap from time to time. Also, make it a point to preview what's to come. Hold your audience's attention by using facts, descriptions, expert opinions, and statistics.

3. The conclusion.

At the end of the presentation, summarize your points, and draw your conclusion. You started with a bang; now finish with drama. The first and last parts of a presentation are the most important. Make it clear to your audience when you have reached the end. Avoid endings such as "This is the end of my presentation. Are there any questions?" A simple standby is "So, in conclusion, I want to reiterate three points: First" When you are finished, stop speaking. Although this sounds quite obvious, a good presentation is often ruined by a speaker who doesn't know when, or how, to wrap things up.

Support Your Presentation with Notes and Visuals

To create speaking notes, you can type out your presentation in full and transfer key words or main points onto a few three-by-five-inch index cards. Number the cards so that if you drop them, you can quickly put them in order again. As you finish the information on each card, move it to the back of the pile. Write information clearly and in letters large enough to be seen from a distance. The disadvantage of the index card system is that it involves card shuffling, so some speakers prefer to use outlined notes.

You can also create supporting visuals. Presentations often include visuals such as PowerPoint slides or handwritten flip charts. These visuals can reinforce your main points and help your audience understand how your presentation is organized. They also serve to trigger your memory about what you should say to flesh out the bullet points in your visuals. Use visuals to *complement* rather than *replace* speech. If you use too many visuals or if they are too complex, your audience might focus on them and forget about you.

- Use fewer visuals rather than more. For a fifteenminute presentation, a total of five to ten slides is usually enough.
- Limit the amount of text on each visual. Stick to key words presented in short sentences or phrases and in bulleted or numbered lists.
- Use a consistent set of plain fonts. Make them large enough for all audience members to see.
- Stick with a simple, coherent color scheme. Use light-colored text on a dark background or dark text on a light background.

Overcome Fear of Public Speaking

Surveys indicate that the fear of public speaking is the number one fear for many people. For those who harbor this fear, being overlooked by an audience in favor of visuals may be exactly what they hope for! Ideally, though, while many of us may not be able to eliminate fear of public speaking entirely, we can take steps to reduce and manage it. The following tips will help you conquer any fear you might feel at the thought of public speaking.

- PREPARE THOROUGHLY. Research your topic thoroughly. Knowing your topic inside and out can create a baseline of confidence. To make a strong start, memorize the first four sentences that you plan to deliver, and practice them many times. Delivering them flawlessly when you're in front of an audience can build your confidence for the rest of your speech.
- ACCEPT YOUR PHYSICAL SENSATIONS. You have probably experienced the physical sensations that are commonly associated with stage fright: dry mouth, a pounding heart, sweaty hands, muscle jitters, shortness of breath, and a shaky voice. One immediate way to deal with such sensations is simply to notice them. Tell yourself, "Yes, my hands are clammy. Yes, my stomach is upset. Also, my face feels numb." Trying to deny or ignore such facts can increase your fear. In contrast, when you fully accept sensations, they start to lose power. While speakers often feel nervous, they do not look that nervous. Members of the audience are there to listen and are sympathetic.
- FOCUS ON CONTENT, NOT DELIVERY. If you view presentations simply as an extension of a one-to-one conversation, you will realize that the goal is not to perform but to communicate your ideas to an audience just as you would explain them to a friend. This can reduce your fear of speaking. Instead of thinking about yourself, focus on your message. Your audience is more interested in what you have to say than in how you say it. Forget about giving a "speech." Just give people valuable ideas and information that they can use.

Practice Your Presentation

The key to successful public speaking is practice. While it's good to use practice sessions to memorize the contents of your speech, these sessions are also important times to work on how you use your voice and body as you speak. To make your practice time efficient and beneficial, follow

the tips below, and run through your speech two or three (or more) times until you're ready to deliver a professional, polished presentation.

- PRACTICE IN THE ROOM IN WHICH YOU WILL DELIVER YOUR PRESENTATION. Ideally, you will be able to practice your presentation where it will be given. If that is not possible, at least visit the site ahead of time so you are comfortable with your surroundings. Also make sure that the materials you need for your presentation, including any audiovisual equipment, will be available when you need them and that you know how to use them.
- USE YOUR "SPEAKER'S VOICE." When you practice, do so in a loud voice. Your voice sounds different when you talk loudly, and this fact can be unnerving. Get used to it early on. People do not like to strain to hear what you have to say.
- MAKE A RECORDING. Many schools have video recording equipment available for student use. Use it while you practice, and then view the finished recording to evaluate your presentation. Did your speech cover your main points in a clear, logical fashion? Did you speak at an appropriate rate, neither too fast nor too slow? Pay special attention to your body language—your posture, your eye contact, and how you used your hands.
- **LISTEN FOR REPEATED WORDS AND PHRASES.** Examples of unwanted filler words include *you know, kind of,* and *really,* plus *uh, umm,* and *ah.* To get rid of them, try to notice them every time they pop up in your daily speech.
- **KEEP PRACTICING.** Avoid speaking word for word, as if you were reading a script. When you know your material well, you can deliver it in a natural way. Practice your presentation until you could deliver it in your sleep, then run through it a few more times. You do not want to hide behind a computer monitor or stare at your script while you read it. You know the material, so you only need visual triggers on PowerPoint slides or note cards.

Deliver Your Presentation

When the time comes to deliver your presentation, your practice will help you to feel confident and self-assured. It's important to dress appropriately for the occasion, because the clothing you choose to wear delivers a message that's as loud as your words. Consider how your audience will be

dressed, and then choose a wardrobe based on the impression you want to make. It shows respect for the audience to be dressed professionally.

Before you begin, get the audience's attention. If people are still filing into the room or adjusting their seats, they're not ready to listen. Wait for the audience to settle into their seats before you begin.

For a great presentation, keep these tips and reminders from your practice sessions in mind:

- **PROJECT YOUR VOICE.** When you speak, do it loudly enough to be heard. Avoid leaning over your notes or a computer monitor.
- MAINTAIN EYE CONTACT. When you look at people, they become less frightening. Remember, too, that it is easier for the audience to listen to someone when that person is looking at them. Find a few friendly faces around the room, and imagine that you are talking to each of these people individually.
- NOTICE YOUR NONVERBAL COMMUNICATION AND YOUR BODY LANGUAGE. Be aware of what your body is telling your audience. Contrived or staged gestures will look dishonest. Hands in pockets, twisting your hair, chewing gum, or shifting your weight from one foot to the other will detract from your speech and make you appear less polished.
- WATCH THE TIME. You can increase the impact of your words by keeping track of the time during your presentation. It's better to end early than to run late.
- PAUSE WHEN APPROPRIATE. Beginners sometimes feel they have to fill every moment with the sound of their voice. Release that expectation. Give your listeners a chance to make notes and absorb what you say.
- HAVE FUN. Chances are that if you lighten up and enjoy your presentation, so will your listeners.

Reflect on Your Presentation

Review and reflect on your performance. Did you finish on time? Did you cover all of the points you intended to cover? Was the audience attentive? Did you handle any nervousness effectively? Welcome evaluation from others. Most of us find it difficult to hear criticism about our speaking. Be aware of resisting such criticism, and then let go of your resistance. Listening to feedback will increase your skill.



PART 1

The Paralegal Profession

Chapter 1

Today's Professional Paralegal

Chapter 2

Career Opportunities

Chapter 3

The Inner Workings of the Law Office

Chapter 4

Ethics and Professional Responsibility

Chapter 5

Sources of American Law

Chapter 6

The Court System and Alternative Dispute Resolution



CHAPTER

1

CHAPTER OUTLINE

Introduction

What Is a Paralegal?

What Do Paralegals Do?

Paralegal Education

Paralegal Skills and Attributes

The Future of the Profession

Today's Professional Paralegal

CHAPTER OBJECTIVES

After completing this chapter, you will be able to:

- · Compare the varying definitions of paralegal.
- Describe the major tasks paralegals perform.
- List the professional associations for paralegals.
- Explain the scope of and options for paralegal education and training.
- Define certification, and describe the paralegal certifications currently available.
- Describe the key skills and attributes of the professional paralegal.
- Discuss the future of the paralegal profession.

Introduction

The career of a paralegal can be exciting, challenging, and rewarding. Over time, law firms have been giving greater responsibilities to paralegals. Opportunities for paralegals to work outside of law firms (such as in corporations or government agencies) are also expanding. As the profession has grown, the average paralegal salary has increased. In 2020, several sources reported the average or median pay for a paralegal to be between \$51,000 and \$55,000 a year. Experienced paralegals can earn substantially more.

How do you know if you want to become part of this dynamic profession? The first step is to become familiar with what a paralegal is, the kinds of work paralegals do, and what education and skills are needed. These topics are covered in this chapter. In Chapter 2, you will learn about where paralegals work and how to get a job as a paralegal. As you read through this book, remember that this is only an introduction to the profession and the starting point of your education. You should supplement what you learn in the classroom by networking with paralegals in professional environments. In today's competitive job market, whom you know can be as important as what you know in getting the job you desire.

What Is a Paralegal?

In the past, the terms *paralegal* and *legal assistant* have been used synonymously in the legal community. As noted below, however, some legal organizations prefer to make distinctions between these terms in their respective definitions.

Definition of Paralegal

In 2020, the American Bar Association (ABA) removed the term *legal assistant* from its definition of *paralegal*. The ABA wanted to recognize a distinction between the work done by paralegals and that of legal assistants. The new ABA definition reads as follows:

A paralegal is a person qualified by education, training, or work experience who is employed or retained by a lawyer, law office, corporation, governmental agency or other entity and who performs specifically delegated substantive legal work, for which a lawyer is responsible.¹

The Paralegal Association (NALA), which is the largest national organization of paralegals, starts its definition of *paralegal* with the term *legal assistant*, making the two terms synonymous.

The National Federation of Paralegal Associations (NFPA) is another large paralegal association. Members of the NFPA were concerned that some attorneys refer to their secretaries as legal assistants and so wanted to distinguish the role of paralegals as professionals. The NFPA gives the following definition for *paralegal*:

A Paralegal is a person, qualified through education, training or work experience to perform substantive legal work that requires knowledge of legal concepts and is customarily, but not exclusively, performed by a lawyer. This person may be retained or employed by a lawyer, law office, governmental agency or other entity or may be authorized by administrative, statutory or court authority to perform this work. Substantive shall mean work requiring recognition, evaluation, organization, analysis, and communication of relevant facts and legal concepts.²

American Bar Association (ABA)

A voluntary national association of attorneys. The ABA's mission is: To serve equally our members, our profession and the public by defending liberty and delivering justice as the national representative of the legal profession.

paralegal

A person qualified by education, training, or work experience who is employed or retained by a lawyer, law office, corporation, governmental agency or other entity and who performs specifically delegated substantive legal work, for which a lawyer is responsible.

The Paralegal Association (NALA)

The largest national paralegal association in the United States; formed in 1975. NALA is actively involved in paralegal professional development.

National Federation of Paralegal Associations (NFPA)

A large paralegal association in the United States; formed in 1974. NFPA is actively involved in paralegal professional development.

American Association for Paralegal Education (AAfPE)

A national organization of paralegal educators; the AAfPE was established in 1981 to promote high standards for paralegal education. Yet another major organization, the American Association for Paralegal Education (AAfPE), provides the following definition:

Paralegals perform substantive and procedural legal work as authorized by law, which work, in the absence of the paralegal, would be performed by an attorney. Paralegals have knowledge of the law gained through education, or education and work experience, which qualifies them to perform legal work. Paralegals adhere to recognized ethical standards and rules of professional responsibility.³

Expanding Roles

Paralegals today perform many functions that traditionally were performed by attorneys. That is why the U.S. Department of Labor predicts growth in the paralegal profession will continue "much faster than the average for all occupations." Paralegals perform substantive legal work for which they are trained through education, experience, or (usually) both.

What Do Paralegals Do?

Paralegals assist attorneys in many ways. The following is a sample of some tasks that paralegals typically perform in a law office. Keep in mind that today's paralegals work in many nontraditional settings, including corporations, government agencies, courts, insurance companies, and real estate firms—indeed, in almost any entity that uses legal services. Throughout this book, you will read about the specific tasks that paralegals perform in different settings.

A Sampling of Paralegal Tasks

Typically, paralegals perform the following duties:

- Conduct client interviews and maintain contact with clients—provided that the client is aware of the status and function of the paralegal, who does not give legal advice.
- Locate and interview witnesses—gather relevant facts and information about a lawsuit, for example.
- Conduct legal investigations—obtain, organize, and evaluate information from sources such as police reports, medical records, photographs, court documents, experts' reports, technical manuals, and product specifications.
- Calendar and track important deadlines—such as the date by which a certain
 document must be filed with the court or the date by which the attorney must
 respond to a settlement offer.
- Organize and maintain client files—keep the documents in each client's file accessible.
- Conduct legal research—identify, analyze, and summarize the appropriate laws, court decisions, or regulations that apply to a client's case.
- Draft legal documents—such as legal correspondence, interoffice memos, contracts, wills, mortgages, and documents to be filed with the court.
- File legal documents with courts—including complaints, answers, and motions.
- Summarize witness testimony—such as when depositions (sworn testimony) are taken of individuals out of court or when the parties have given written statements.

- Coordinate litigation proceedings—communicate with opposing counsel, court personnel, and other government officials; prepare necessary documents for trial; and schedule witnesses.
- Attend legal proceedings—including trials, depositions, executions of wills, and court or administrative hearings.
- *Use computers and technology*—to perform many of the above tasks and help expand the social media presence of a firm.

No matter what task is being performed, paralegals have an obligation to meet high ethical standards. You will see an *Ethics Watch* feature in every chapter in the textbook, and ethical obligations will be reviewed in detail in Chapter 4. This chapter's *Ethics Watch* feature discusses the ethical balance between the role of paralegals and how to provide legal advice.

Paralegals' Duties Vary

The specific tasks that paralegals perform vary depending on the size of the office, the kind of law that the firm practices, and the expertise the paralegal has. If you work in a one-attorney office, for example, you may also perform secretarial functions. Tasks include conducting legal research and investigating the facts, copying documents, entering data into the computer, and answering the phone as needed.

If you work in a larger law firm, you usually have more support staff (secretaries, file clerks, and others) to whom you can delegate tasks. Your work may also be more specialized, so you may work on cases in only certain areas of law. If you work in a law firm's real estate department, for example, you may deal with legal matters only relating to that area.

Although paralegal duties vary, the tasks that paralegals report spending the most time performing are drafting legal documents, handling client relations, and conducting legal research.

ETHICS WATCH

PARALEGAL EXPERTISE AND LEGAL ADVICE

Paralegals often have deep knowledge in specific areas of law. If you specialize in environmental law, for example, you will become familiar with environmental claims. When working with a client on a matter involving an environmental agency, you might be tempted to advise the client on which type of action would be most favorable to him or her. Never do so. Only attorneys may give legal advice, and paralegals who give legal advice risk penalties for the unauthorized practice of law. Whatever legal advice is given to the client must come directly from the attorney.

If you speak to a client, the advice must reflect exactly (or nearly exactly) what the attorney said with no modification and must be communicated to the client as directed by the attorney. After consulting with your supervising attorney, for example, you can say

to the client that the attorney "advises that you do all that you can to settle the claim as soon as possible."

The rule prohibiting the unauthorized practice of law is stated in Section 1.8 of the NFPA Model Code of Ethics and Professional Responsibility: "A paralegal shall comply with the applicable legal authority governing the unauthorized practice of law in the jurisdiction in which the paralegal practices." It is also required by the NALA Code of Ethics and Professional Responsibility, Canon 4: "A paralegal must use discretion and professional judgment commensurate with knowledge and experience but must not render independent legal judgment in place of an attorney."

Reprinted by permission of the National Federation of Paralegal Associations, Inc. (NFPA®), paralegals.org.

Copyright 1975; Adopted 1975; Revised 1979, 1988, 1995, 2007. Reprinted with permission of NALA, The Paralegal Association. Inquiries should be directed to NALA, 1516 S. Boston, #200, Tulsa, OK 74119, nala.org.